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MISSION STATEMENT

NCIE

Pursuing the vision of being the “Chinese Connection’ both among Chinese
communities and between Chinese communities and the rest of the world,
Phoenix seeks to provide Chinese everywhere with a continuous stream of
Chinese-language programming, ranging from entertainment, talk shows and Asian
and Western movies through to balanced, accurate and up-to-the-minute news and
information about political and economic developments around the globe.

By performing these functions, Phoenix fulfills its mission of
bringing China closer to the world and the world closer to China.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ETRBEE

The Group's revenue for the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$3,029,046,000, which represented a
decrease of 17.9% over the previous year
as a result of the adverse impact of COVID-19
outbreak on the global economy and market
condition.
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Financial Summary

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$3,029,046,000, which represented a
decrease of 17.9% over the previous year as a result of the
adverse impact of COVID-19 outbreak on the global economy
and market condition.

As a result of strict and effective cost control measures at
all business units in response to the effect of the COVID-19
pandemic, the operating loss of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group” or “"Phoenix”) decreased to approximately
HK$502,151,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020,
representing a notable decrease of 31% over previous year.
Benefited from the seasonal fluctuation and the relaxation of
COVID-19 restrictions in the Mainland China, the operating loss
for the second half of 2020 was approximately HK$64,069,000,
in comparison with HK$438,082,000 for the first half of 2020.

Fair value loss on internet media investment for the year was
approximately HK$1,074,851,000, in comparison with a gain on
internet media investment of HK$1,567715,000 for the previous
year.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$1,037,043,000 which included share of
fair value loss of the Group's internet media investment of
approximately HK$585,686,000, in comparison with a profit
of HK$122,665,000 for the previous year which included
share of fair value gain of approximately HK$733,584,000.
The aforementioned fair value loss or gain was a non-cash
item and had no impact on the Group’s cash flow, operations
or liquidity position. Final disposal of the Group's internet
media investment was completed in October 2020. Overall,
with a total consideration of US$350,000,000 compared to an
aggregate investment cost of approximately US$97000,000,
this successful internet media strategic investment had
brought in a considerable investment return and the Group
had benefited tremendously from the final disposal of this
investment in terms of its cashflow situation.
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Results

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$3,029,046,000 (year ended 31 December
2019: HK$3,688,231,000), which represented a decrease of 179%
over the previous year as a result of the adverse impact of COVID-19
outbreak on the global economy and market condition. Due to strict
cost control measures taken to enhance the operating efficiency, the
operating costs for the year ended 31 December 2020 decreased by
20.0% to approximately HK$3,531,197000 (year ended 31 December
2019: HK$4,416,143,000).

As a result of strict and effective cost control measures at all
business units in response to the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the operating loss of the Group decreased to approximately
HK$502,151,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing
a notable decrease of 31% over previous year. Benefited from the
seasonal fluctuation and the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions in the
Mainland China, the operating loss for the second half of 2020 was
approximately HK$64,069,000, in comparison with HK$438,082,000
for the first half of 2020.

Fair value loss on financial assets related to internet media business’s
investment in Particle Inc. for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$1,074,851,000 (year ended 31 December 2019:
profit of HK$1,567,715,000). Particle Inc. is a strategic investment
of Phoenix New Media Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, and it
mainly operates the Yidian Zixun mobile App featuring personalised
interest-based information and news feed functions targeting the
mass market.

Fair value loss of approximately HK$140,493,000 (year ended 31
December 2019: HK$6,847.000) was recognised for the investment
properties in Beijing and London.

The net exchange gain of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$44,355,000 (year ended 31 December
2019: HK$1,159,000) mainly resulting from the appreciation of the
Renminbi.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$1,037,043,000 which included share of fair value loss of the
Group's internet media investment of approximately HK$585,686,000,
in comparison with a profit of HK$122,665,000 for the previous
year which included share of fair value gain of approximately
HK$733,584,000. The aforementioned fair value loss or gain was
a non-cash item and had no impact on the Group’s cash flow,
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operations or liquidity position. Final disposal of the Group’s internet
media investment was completed in October 2020. Overall, with a
total consideration of US$350,000,000 compared to an aggregate
investment cost of approximately US$97,000,000, this successful
internet media strategic investment had brought in a considerable
investment return and the Group had benefited tremendously from
the final disposal of this investment in terms of its cashflow situation.

The chart below summarises the performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and the year ended 31 December

2019 respectively.
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Television broadcasting BRERE 747,052 921,541
Internet media G HER S 1,473,327 1,777,598
Outdoor media FonEes 574,979 691,336
Real estate BHbE 45,121 49,048
Other businesses e 188,567 248,708
Group's total revenue REBEBUA 3,029,046 3,688,231
Operating costs KRB AR (3,531,197) (4,416,143)
Operating loss K e e (502,151) (727,912)
Fair value loss on investment "EMENFEEE
properties (140,493) (6,847)
Net (loss)/gain on internet media BRI A R
investment (E518) WeEF8E (1,074,851) 1,667,715
Exchange gain, net b W aF 58 44,355 1,159
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B E—RB A RRE 70,133 —
Other (expense)/income, net Hith (%) R FEE (12,803) 9,367
(Loss)/profit before share of results BhEEDERBEATIES
of joint ventures and associates, FriS it M 1R 25 Al
income tax and non-controlling (E518) &7
interests (1,615,810) 843,482
Share of results of joint ventures BEEEDERBERREE
and associates (5,041) (6,786)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisFiife, (BA) 124,358 (252,468)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BHR) aF (1,496,493) 584,228
Non-controlling interests VTR 459,450 (461,563)
(Loss)/profit attributes to owners AAREEE AN (B518) /&
of the Company (1,037,043) 122,665
Basic (loss)/earnings per share, SRRER (B18) /&F - Bl
Hong Kong cents (20.77) 2.46
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Despite the unprecedented challenges and turmoil in the global
economy brought by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, Phoenix
continued to leverage its brand influence and professionalism to
actively build an internationally leading high-tech omni-media group
focused on content production and driven by cross-sector integration.
During the year, the Group continued to deepen its business
transformation and industry trends innovation by taking multiple
measures to cope with the impact of the pandemic, and achieved
a substantial improvement in its operating performance against the
trend. Mr. LIU Changle, the chairman of the Board, emphasises
that the international influence and credibility of Phoenix must be
maintained and strategic innovations should be continuously pushed
forward.

Phoenix continues to uphold its international characteristics and
influence. Based in Hong Kong and serving Chinese all over the
world with nearly 60 correspondent stations worldwide, Phoenix
delivers first-hand quality news to the Chinese audience globally with
global vision, professionalism and passion, adhering to the reporting
philosophy of “Chinese perspective’, “patriotic sentiment’, “live-
broadcasting as a priority” and “exclusivity and uniqueness” In 2020,
Phoenix tracked and reported the global COVID-19 pandemic. Our
accredited reporters were dispatched to Wuhan to report on its battle
against the pandemic. Our global production team has produced a
number of special programmes focusing on combating the pandemic,
which include Combating COVID-19 ({ 31 2 %7 18 b 4)), Under the
Same Roof ({ @ B F X)), We are in the Same Boat ({ £ R £)),
Letters from Wuhan ((EUZ{Z)) and Letters from Compatriots ({[7]
[} 2k 12)). Phoenix's reporters also focused on the U.S. presidential
election, the anti-racism campaign in the U.S., the change of prime
minister in Japan, the Taiwan presidential election, the flood situation
in the Yangtze River basin, the China International Import Expo in
Shanghai, etc. They conducted exclusive interviews with a number
of important news figures and international dignitaries, including
Zhong Nanshan (a Chinese anti-pandemic expert), Terry Branstad (the
then U.S. Ambassador to China), Hideo Tarumi (the new Japanese
Ambassador to China), Jacinda Ardern (the Prime Minister of New
Zealand), Mahmoud Ahmadinejad (the former President of Iran) and
Javad Zarif (the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Iran), which won praises
from Chinese audiences all over the world.
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Phoenix's brand value and leading position in the industry continued
to grow. In 2020, Phoenix was once again rated as one of The
World's Top 500 Largest Media Companies and The Most Valuable
500 Chinese Brands, and ranked among the top 4 most influential
television media brands in Asia. Phoenix’'s programmes and
promotional trailers have always been enjoying good reputation
among Chinese media. With international and high quality programme
production standard, Phoenix was crowned with numerous awards at
the New York Festivals TV & Films Awards 2020, including the bronze
prize in the Craft: Promotion/Open & ID for Hovering over Macau. The
documentary C'est La Vie: COVID-19 Epidemic Special was awarded
the Asian Academy Creative Awards 2020, demonstrating Phoenix’s
outstanding brand influence and professionalism.

In terms of strategic transmission channel expansion, Phoenix’s global
transmission capability is continuously growing. It has expanded
its global distribution channels to reach audiences worldwide
through satellite, cable networks, mobile internet, over-the-top
(OTT) platforms, IPTV and social media, satisfying the demands of
different devices as well as different user groups. Fengshows, an
integrated media operating platform established by Phoenix, has built
a communications matrix with its own platform as its core, forming
a new business model with authoritative publication, independent
production, copyright operation and integrated marketing. Phoenix
Zone, a video on-demand product, works with a number of foreign
and domestic transmission platforms to expand the product
configurations of its programme contents. Looking forward, Phoenix
will continue to provide precise, customised content products and
fully enhance its capability in content transmission and monetisation
by making use of the extension of application scenarios and
intelligent distribution algorithm technology.

The Group actively promotes the business transformation and its high-
quality development through various development strategies, such as
content operation, industry trends integration and operation synergy.
Road to Peak (a platform for incubating innovative enterprises by
adopting a two-pronged approach of media services and investment),
Phoenix Health (an industrialised operating platform in the field of
big health) and other platforms are constantly promoting innovation
in programmes and content operation. The Company has been
nurturing new industry trends of customised media services, content
consumption and e-commerce as well as cultural travel and vertical
industries to further expand the monetisation of brands, contents,
platforms, traffic and resources of media. In addition, the Company
will continue to enhance its synergistic operating capabilities of its
omni-media platforms including television broadcasting, internet,
large outdoor LED screens and weekly magazines to provide the
customers with integrated media services that suit their diversified
needs, thus facilitating the ongoing improvements in operation quality
and scale.

F4 2020

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHREE

Bl B\ B45 /Y SR R (B (B AT R E MR 35 48
B - 2020F - BEVESRBRAEEZETF
BTt R EH4860058 ] A K [ E5005E
BERE YEALEDNEREERE
PUss - BEEMRETE REEH EEREREF
THOE  BEERCNSEEME B RYE
KA FE [2020 BHVBIR B ERE ] Bi5
ZEXEE - Edh (IR LRI
5% o R8I R CRIEAL) FIEMAZE
R E R KT 487 (202028 M 2 E Al B K
2] ZELBRGREMAME HEEE
11 o

REREERE - BEGEEHEEE
TIRE s - BIREHEITRE  BBE
E BREGAHE BHEHE OTTFES -
IPTV LA R4t R IR ES 3= R TR R - WE T
TR - TRAEH K - giFE¥s [E
B TR EF A AR OREEER - L
TEREM - B H M REEE - BATTH
LHEEANEERD - BEARITEX
LR A EER [BRARRE]  SFR%
EEETEERAE THEEMHEAEH
EmFEE o KK - BEGRESSER LS
% FREHANBDER - WARASS0E
RERESBFNERRN - 2EIRANDE
BEZRMNEES

AEBARARER - XERE  KEHRE
BRERE BREHKLELIRSE8H
& o KRG NREEHES AR DX
P e (B ) REEFREERE
2Fa(REKRRE) F - HETEHESHE
B RARELHEIF - ARITMEEERILH
RIS - ARBBRER - KREHE
REMEEE - PMRERZME - R
B Fa REANERNER - 1) &
RREES (6 8 5 T 2R8B1HR
RERES - REPRMEEEERY - n
REPZEHER  (RELERE ERIED
FERTT -



10

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETEHRES

The number of users and activeness on the flagship product ifeng
News App under Phoenix New Media, an internet media platform
of the Group, has maintained its leading position as one of the most
popular mobile device information products among Chinese users.
Phoenix New Media has effectively enhanced its brand reputation and
influence through a variety of means such as in-depth coverage of
major events, unique and quality original content, and offline events
in vertical domains, by virtue of various strategies such as combining
algorithms and editing to empower refined operations. Phoenix New
Media continues to innovate in its business and actively develops
its business layout in various areas, including quality e-commerce,
supply chain as well as consumer guidance short videos, bringing
new monetisation channels and strategic opportunities for the
Company. Moreover, Phoenix New Media completed the disposal of
Yidian Zixun during the year, which has contributed a considerable
investment return to the Group and facilitated the Group’s strategic
upgrade in the future.

Phoenix Metropolis Media works with global media providers, in
fully satisfying the needs of its customers by providing them with
professional services that are characterised by wide coverage, highly
reputable, strong planning and creativity as well as sufficient technical
support. Phoenix Metropolitan Media continues to innovate in terms
of creativity and technology. Creative interactive technologies such
as naked-eye 3D, transparent 3D and live street view navigation,
provide customers with a refreshing experience. Phoenix’'s outdoor
LED media resources currently cover over 300 cities in China with
over 900 screens. Its global network encompasses 19 countries and
regions including Asia, the Americas, Europe and Oceania, achieving
genuine global procurement and distribution.

The Group has also maintained a systematic development in other
business segments.

In the area of digital technology, Phoenix Digital Technology, a
subsidiary of Phoenix, is committed to establishing an operator for
technological cultural services. It has held high-tech interactive digital
art exhibitions, such as Along the River during the Qingming Festival
3.0 and A Panorama of Rivers and Mountains 3.0, to enrich cultural
scenes and application experiences with digital technology and
actively cultivate the emerging digital culture industry trends. During
the year, Phoenix has constantly promoted the integration of “56G +
Media Industry” Phoenix will continue to enrich the experience of
media communication and interaction in the areas of media content
production, information and content transmission, ultra-high definition
live broadcast, panoramic and immersive experience as well as the
others. It will also expand the industry layout of 5G+4K/8K+VR, and
promote the integration and development of IT-empowered content
industry.
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In the area of cultural creativity, Phoenix Culture has served as
the cultural creativity industry cluster of the Group. The Group has
incubated and set up different business sectors, such as creative
planning, art curation, performing arts activities, cultural tourism,
and cultural IP development and operation, and has deepened the
integration and service of the whole industry chain of commerce,
tourism, real estate, and special towns to form a sustainable business
mode. Phoenix Culture will capitalise on its consolidated resources
in the future, reinforce the core competitiveness in the field of
cultural creativity, and build the cluster ecology of Phoenix Culture by
leveraging on the platform of content, industry and capital to foster
the Group's coordinated development in the field of cultural creativity.

Despite being in the midst of unprecedented change in the world
unseen in a century, Phoenix will always adhere to the concept
of openness and inclusiveness, and strive to facilitate the cultural
exchanges and dialogue between China and the world. Phoenix will,
as always, leverage its core advantages in brand and contents while
firmly adhering to professional journalism and constantly promoting
operational awareness and innovation in business systems. By
building an internationally recognised omni-media group with
credibility, influence and communication strength, we look forward to
meeting the expectations of everyone.

F4 2020
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20202 F REME

23 March
3H23H

Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited
(“Phoenix TV"), together with the The Shenzhen
Mammoth Public Welfare Foundation (“Mammoth
Foundation”) and BGIl Genomics Co., Ltd. ("BGI"),
initiated a public welfare event for the donation
toward the construction of Huo-Yan laboratory and
the global donation of new coronavirus nucleic
acid test kits. These test kits were developed by
Shenzhen BGI, and had been widely used at the
front line to help fight the pandemic in China. The
signing ceremony took place in the form of remote
video streaming on 23 March. HE Daguang, the Chief
Innovation Officer and Executive Vice President of
Phoenix TV, attended the signing ceremony in Beijing;
and at the other end of the ceremony in Shenzhen,
YIN Ye, the Chief Executive Officer of BGI, and ZHU
Yanmei, an executive director of BGI Group and
the General Secretary of Mammoth Foundation,
signed the contract. As a world-class Chinese-
language media platform, Phoenix TV has repeatedly
contributed its talents and solutions in facilitating
Chinese companies to go international, through the
use of various international communication means,
working jointly with international organisations,
government agencies, overseas media, international
chambers of commerce, think tanks and other
resources. In the face of the pandemic, Phoenix TV
has made every effort to build a bridge of cooperation
between domestic organisations and the international
community, in sharing the responsibilities of fighting
against the pandemic.

REFRERAR(REBFHR)BARNTEBARES
2EBESE ) RNEREEABRMHBERAR ([EXE
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REERTEENERESEWERREFRREY - £
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BFFERFT ~ BIMERE - BfREE  BEFER  ERZE
BREETER  RTBECEEMERERMBEESSMER
AR o RIFEAT - BEGREIE DB ZEAKEEERT
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5H18H

The Phoenix Center in Beijing re-opened. For this
long-awaited reunion, we had prepared a special
comeback gift at the beautiful “Phoenix Nest’ that
is, Flying Dream — Zhang Hua Sculpture Exhibition,
which was held at the time of reopening. The art
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exhibition was held from 18 May to 18 August, for
a period of 3 months. As the first exhibition at the
Phoenix Center since the pandemic, it conveyed
to the visitors an upward lifting force, which was
appreciated as a good remedy for the recovery from
the pandemic.

IERBEPORERK . E—RABEE  ZENTA
B SRERT —DELARE - RIRERMRFE BRI (R
INE — SEFBERE] IWARNTERSEIEA B
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2 AMEL-MREBEEHRNRE-

January - July
18-7H

During the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic
in 2020, Phoenix TV dispatched a strong team
of reporters, comprising experienced reporters
including JIANG Xiaofeng, LUO Yuming, TANG
Jingiang, CHEN Runjun and WU Zhichen, who
successively went to Wuhan to report the latest
situation of the pandemic. In particular, LUO Yuming

F4 2020
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and JIANG Xiaofeng told the story of Wuhan's
fight against the pandemic through their personal
programmes Listen to Wuhan {{E¥EeEZ)) TV and
Jiang Xiaofeng's Diary ((i&BEzl&HZZ)). Phoenix's
reporters from Wuhan, Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen,
Hong Kong, Macau and other places across the
country recorded the process in which the whole
country had fought against the pandemic and
achieved positive results. In addition, Phoenix TV
devoted a lot more reporting resources in covering
news about the fight against COVID-19 in different
countries, by teaming up with reporters stationed
in the United States, the United Kingdom, Italy,
Russia, Iran, Australia, South Korea and Japan. With
continuous attention and giving the latest coverage
on COVID-19 for months, Phoenix TV has been
making its best efforts to tell the world: “We are all
here and will never give up!”
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e 6 July ———

7H6H

The first live broadcast in China and the first global
offline dialogue of ResiliArt hosted jointly by the
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural
Organisation’s Representative Office in China and
Phoenix TV was held at the Phoenix Center in
Beijing. Chinese literary and art workers from various
sectors such as culture, film and television, music
and performing arts were invited. SHAN Jixiang
(the president of the Cultural Relics Academy of
China), TANG Jili (a film director), HONG Huang (a
media person), TAl Lihua (a dancer with listening and
talking impairment) and CHEN Sa (a pianist), were
there to reveal the current situations of the cultural
and creative industry under the COVID-19, discuss
the methods and strategies to resume cultural and
creative undertakings in the post-pandemic era, and
explore how artists maintain artistic resilience during
the pandemic, and how to establish a sustainable
cultural ecosystem.

RS BHURASHERRENREFRE S T
[ResiliArt B Z) 24T RIS ERELRESR T H A
EAERERFOLET - RS EFITEXYEeS
BEY EXLEERETE  ARAMR  BEHEREEX
ARREEE - MZRERRMREFREXE R - F%  B7E
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BIBEEBRN  SmBREBERRIREXAEIEENTHENE
B o 3 A EMRPIN AR RT M IEETRA
R RERWAZL A HERROSUEERRS -
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25 August
8H25H

Sally WU, the deputy head of Phoenix InfoNews
Channel and the host of Mainland Q&A, exclusively
interviewed the Chief Executive Carrie LAM at
Government House. In addition to giving detailed
answers to questions about matters of public
concern, such as current pandemic situation in Hong
Kong, economic and social development and the
government’s focuses. Carrie LAM also revealed the
difficult journey of her mind in this in-depth interview
for the first time since the social turmoil in the
previous year.

BEEREMGREGR (FEMM) MEIHFARND
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16 September
9H16H

Phoenix TV and the Chinese Red Cross Foundation
held a combined event of the strategic cooperation
signing ceremony and the launching ceremony of
Miss Chinese Charity Event 2020 at the Phoenix
Center in Beijing, at which the strategic cooperation
between both parties began. Miss Chinese Cosmos
Pageant is an important beauty event for global
Chinese women hosted by Phoenix TV. The poverty
alleviation project Charity Kitchen is a key project
of the Chinese Red Cross Foundation this year. By
tying these two events together, and leveraging
Phoenix TV's omni-media advantage to support the
Charity Kitchen project, both parties will jointly initiate
a public welfare activity with “TV Media + Online
Platform Interaction”

BEEREPBRAL+FESSAEILREET LRITEEA
{ERAENE [2020 P/ MERERE) | FBE - Nt
NRETERBEAIENFR o [PENMURRAE]| ERRA
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BEH] WRRTTE -

mmmm 4 September =
9H4H

Phoenix TV and China National Biotech Group of
Sinopharm Group held a signing ceremony for the
strategic cooperation on COVID-19 inactivated
vaccine resources and media support at the Phoenix
Center in Beijing. Pursuant to which, both parties
will work together to fight against the pandemic and
protect the health of employees, and cooperate and
develop in diseases prevention, medical supplies,
biotechnology products and media services by
leveraging their strengths in their respective industries
and regional influences.
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m October - November =

1MMHA-1MH

The U.S. election was the most significant reports
this year. The preparation of Phoenix TV for the U.S.
election coverage started early and executed with
meticulous and progressive steps. As early as in
August, Phoenix TV's reporters stationed in the
U.S. began to warm up with numerous updates on
the development of the election. The Phoenix TV's
Commentator Group based in the live broadcast
room of the Hong Kong headquarters, gave
detailed analysis on the U.S. election from a global
perspective, diagnosing all relevant events to reveal
the reasons behind the appearance. Stepping into
the critical period of October, the frontline reporters
stationed in the U.S. followed the progress of the
general election non-stop around the clock, and
gave intensive reports in a number of major news
programmes, including Phoenix Morning Express,
The Midday Express, Phoenix Evening Express,
Chief Editors Time, Phoenix Focus, China News
Live, From Phoenix to the World, News Talk, Phoenix
Midnight Express and Omni Talk. In particular,
coordinated efforts were launched by 11 reporter
stations, in countries including Australia, Russia and
Japan, providing in-depth observations from different
perspectives on the impacts of the U.S. election on
different countries.

BEFREE (125 BRAR

On 8 November, the general election in the U.S. took
place as scheduled. As a Chinese-language media
with international resources, Phoenix TV launched a
nationwide reporting network to provide full coverage
on the general election. Our eight reporters in the
U.S., WANG Bingru, WANG Youyou, CHEN Lingnan,
CHEN Qingwei, CHEN Yinggian, PANG Zhe, LI Ruoqi
and LIU Haiping, connected to the live broadcast
room in Hong Kong in 5 groups around the clock to
give live coverage on the latest news of the election.
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memm 16 December mmam
12816 H

The Dialogue with the World: Trans-Pacific Future
Forum 2020 was launched at the Phoenix Center
in Beijing. The three-day forum focused on issues
in the future, exploring ways to meet global
challenges and contribute to global development.
Themed as “Rationality and Cooperation’, key
persons from political, economic, industrial and
academic sectors around the world were invited
to the forum to discuss in depth the relationships
between major powers and the international order.

Bt R 5E o K IFE RN me&kmﬂﬁ#m%
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APRIL
R228

Hovering over Macau (short version), a programme of Phoenix Satellite Television
Company Limited (“Phoenix TV"), won the bronze prize of the New York Festivals
International TV & Films Award Gala 2020 in the Craft: Promotion/Open & ID: Camerawork
category. Hovering over Macau is an official promotional video made by Phoenix TV jointly
with the government of the Macau Special Administrative Region. With full effort, it sent
a number of film crews for the shooting of Macau to celebrate the 20th anniversary of its
return. While allowing the audience to a bird's eye view the skyline of Macau, the short
video also guides the audience through the modern and traditional landscapes, exploring
the “new” Macau from various perspectives. In addition, Phoenix TV's documentary The
Body Transporter was nominated as a finalist for the Documentary: Human Concerns
category award. As the award presenting ceremony of New York Festivals International
TV & Films Award Gala was cancelled due to the pandemic this year, the list of awardees
was released on its official website.

R20204 M BEREFERE - BEAGEARAR ([REFR]) &8 (FMARF) (KEhR)
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APRIL

A30H

The cloud awards ceremony for the 5th Academy Awards of China Online Video was held
online. In the category of Anti-pandemic Special Contribution, the Letters from Wuhan
(R E2RA=)) produced by Phoenix TV's Celebrity Face to Face team received the Anti-
pandemic Special Contribution Award (FLZ %55 B EAE%). After one month of assessment
and selection through collection online, selection and recommendation by video
platforms/MCN agencies/film companies and big data screening, a total of nearly 500
candidates were nominated to enter into competition for 25 awards in the 5th Academy
Awards of China Online Video.

FhHIETHBEE AR BERBETERAERH - AR ERET - ARESR (BAEEE) BRRIEN (RIZRE)
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JUNE
A15H

The award ceremony for Weibo Starlight Awards organised by Sina Weibo was held online.
As always, Weibo selected top ten foreign companies and media of Weibo Starlight in 2019
by summarising Weibo data in the previous year, with focus on Hong Kong and Taiwan,
Japan, South Korea, Southeast Asia, North America, Europe, Australia and New Zealand, to
commend the efforts of the awardees in the past year. Based on the degree of activity and
interaction on Weibo, Phoenix TV received the Top Ten Influential Foreign Media 2019 award,
and ETtoday#THZE, the_television, KA ¥R-AA%8 and Nikkei Chinese website also won the
award.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION /
RIER IR

At the 17th World Brand Summit organised by the World Brand
Lab in Beijing, an analysis report for China’s 500 Most Valuable
Brands 2020 was released. In this annual report, with analysis
based on financial data, brand strength and consumer behavior,
Phoenix TV entered the list for the 17th consecutive year, and
was ranked among the top four of China’s 500 Most Valuable
Brands 2020, together with CCTV, People’s Daily and Hunan
Broadcasting and Film Group Co., Ltd. in the media industry.

At RBREREENNE+LEERRBEASELRET &
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SEPTEMBER

B22H

At the 15th Asia Brand Summit
organised by the World Brand
Lab in Shanghai, the ranking
of Asia’s 500 Most Influential
Brands 2020 was released. In this
annual report, with analysis based
on market share, brand loyalty
and leadership in Asia, Phoenix
TV entered the list for the 15th
consecutive year, and once again
ranked among the top four of the
most influential television brands
in Asia.
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1255

Phoenix TV's documentary C’est La Vie: COVID-19 Pandemic
Special received the National Award of Best Current Affairs
Programme or Series of Asian Academy Creative Award (AAA)
2020. AAA, being the most well-known creative award across
the Asia-Pacific region, is held in Singapore every December.
Outstanding players in the content industry from 16 countries and
regions gathered in the Lion City to participate in the ceremony in
which the best content and best creative awards were presented.
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12 grsee

At the 26th Chinese Documentary Festival and the 13th Shenzhen Youth Film Festival
held in Shenzhen, Phoenix TV's C’est La Vie was recognised as one of the 26th Chinese
Documentary Top Ten Programmes.
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1 2 DECEMBER
A15H

The Theme Event of Witnessing the Great Spirit in Fighting the
Pandemic — Documentary Video on China’s Battle against the
Pandemic 2020, with guidance provided by the China Television
Artists Association, the Publicity Department of the National
Health Commission and the National Library of China, was held
in Zhongshan, Guangdong. Phoenix TV's Face Mask Global

Shortage: Supply and Demand Analysis received the Outstanding
Work Award.

HTEEREMRHE  BFXHFREZEER] - PEEKESERE
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12 gesee

The list of the (8th) World's 500 Largest Media Companies in 2020, compiled jointly by World Media Lab and the World
Executive Group, was released in New York, U.S.A. Phoenix TV entered the list for the 8th consecutive year and was ranked
as the 269th among the world’s top 500 media companies. At the World Executive Conference and the Press Conference
of World's 500 Largest Media Companies in 2020 held in Beijing, World Brand Lab presented honorary certificates
to representatives of participating media organisations which had been selected as the World's 500 Largest Media
Companies.

M REEEREMEFCIEASLEBRARHN2020FF (F/\E) [t RIEE50058 | FXEMALBE - BIEAREES
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A GLOBAL MEDIA ORGA

EEEIK

ASIA PACIFIC

As a satellite broadcaster, the television programmes of Phoenix Satellite
Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") are primarily carried by
AsiaSat 7, which has a footprint covering the Asia-Pacific region, including
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. In many other countries
and regions, Phoenix TV is also distributed through local operators.

MALAYSIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Astro, the major Direct-to-Home (DTH) operator,
and Enjoy TV, new media platform.

SINGAPORE
Phoenix TV is carried by StarHub.

INDONESIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Skynindo, PT Link Net and PT Innovate Mas
Indonesia (IMI).

THAILAND
Phoenix TV is carried by True Visions.

PHILIPPINES
Phoenix TV is carried by SKY Cable.

JAPAN
Phoenix TV is carried by Daifu.

KOREA
Phoenix TV is distributed in Korean hotels through Global Reach Korea.

VIETNAM
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline.

LAOS
Phoenix TV is carried by LAOSAT.

CAMBODIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline and LAOSAT.

MYANMAR
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline and LAOSAT.

BRUNEI
Phoenix TV is carried by Kristal Astro.

AUSTRALIA
Phoenix TV is carried by TVB Anywhere and is also available from AsiaSat 7.

NEW ZEALAND
Phoenix TV is carried by Culture & Media and TVB Anywhere.
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KIRGHIZIA
Phoenix TV is carried by LLC AlaTV.

THE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
Phoenix TV is carried by USMTV.

AFRICA

Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment Channel (“Phoenix CNE
Channel”) is distributed to 47 countries in Africa including South Africa
through MultiChoice and StarSat satellite platforms. Phoenix CNE Channel
and Phoenix InfoNews Channel are also transmitted over digital terrestrial
TV network of StarTimes, covering 16 African countries. Phoenix InfoNews
Channel is also distributed through E21B, E7B and SDTV to the whole
Africa.

NORTH AND SOUTH AMERICA

Phoenix North America Chinese Channel (“"Phoenix NA Chinese
Channel”), Phoenix InfoNews Channel and Phoenix Hong Kong Channel
are carried on satellite, cable, IR OTT and mobile platforms such as ADTH,
Amazon, AT&T (AT&T Uverse + DirecTV), Bell, CableVision, Charming
China, Comcast, ContentPort, COX, CWI, Damai TV, Dish, EnTouch,
Flow, Frontier, Hawaiian Telcom, iTalkTV, Kylin TV, NOVUS, PhoenixTV-US,
Rogers, Shaw, Spectrum (Charter + Time Warner), Telus, Verizon FiOS to
cover 36 countries in North and South America.

Furthermore, Phoenix TV Channels are available in over 55 hotels with
49,700 rooms in total in North America.

EUROPE

Phoenix CNE Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel are carried by
Astra 2G and Eutelsat 9B, which are downlinked to Sky, Free, Sfr, Orange,
Numericable, Bouygues, Kable Deutschland, Telekom Deutschland,
Wilhelm.tel GmbH, Nos, Meo, Vodafone etc. and other mainstream cable,
OTT and IPTV systems in Europe.

Furthermore, 214 hotels in Europe with over 55,154 rooms in total, choose
Phoenix CNE Channel as the official Chinese TV channel for their guests.
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BERIR

Phoenix Chinese Channel
Phoenix InfoNews Channel
Phoenix Hong Kong Channel
Phoenix CNE Channel
Phoenix NA Chinese Channel

Phoenix Movies Channel

PHOENIX GLOBAL REACH

Phoenix TV news bureaux and
correspondent stations. Phoenix
TV also uses materials from foreign
independent bureaux based in
Brazil, Canada, Mexico, Germany,
Hungary, Pakistan and Spain.

()
oY)

(6)
(6)

()

BEFREE (125 BRAR

()

NORTH AMERICA

JEEM

Los Angeles @
TRAZTE

REERH A
BE#FRERE
FEEEEES
FRERENE
BE#REMNE

REEREZS

BE 2 R4

FUBATR 3T B B B R -
RUBAE TMERRREE - hd
X - BEF - #8 - 9FF B
ELHTIE R T 0S5V R
SEEVE R o

New York
my @

Washington DC Y
FARE

%)
CARIBBEAN
b= =30

SOUTH AMERICA @\
BEM



Annual Report 2020

London
@ R
@ Paris
B2

%)
AFRICA
E

@ @ Moscow
EUROPE LR
BOM
KIRGHIZIA
EEEE
@ Tehran
=R
THE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
P B 2

0
SOUTH
AFRICA

B

F4 2020

A GLOBAL MEDIA ORGANISATION //‘

EEZR
9}
ASIA PACIFIC
BAE
Beijing 2 JAPAN
IR @ K%A O"5s
Shanghai @ % Toyko
s @ E
Shenzhen e
MYANMAR |a0s #Y @ .Tigsw
aole @ i .Hong Kong
THAILAND @CAMBODIA Gl
RE ()  FAR PHILIPPINES
MALAYSIA @@ 6 FEHE
- Fick+ VIETNAM
M
%)
SINGAPORE BRUNEI
gk @ P&
INDONESIA
oe O
0)
AUSTRALIA
@ Sydney
%e
5
NEW ZEALAND
HEH

25



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

GLOBAL OUTLOOK
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Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited
(“Phoenix TV”) is a Chinese-language
media entity with international coverage,
its programmes are characterised by global
vision and its dedication is to provide the
Chinese-speaking audience with real-time
news and information from around the
world.

In 2020, Phoenix TV reported on many
major news stories around the world and
also participated in a number of important
international events. The following provides
a sense of Phoenix TV’s international role as
a news reporter:
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China’s Decisive Response to the Pandemic Outbreak

RIG®RE PERENE

At the beginning of 2020, the sudden outbreak of
the COVID-19 in Wuhan spreaded rapidly to other
parts of the country. The Chinese government
took decisive measures and announced the
lockdown of Wuhan. We immediately sent our
reporting teams from Shenzhen and Hong Kong
to Wuhan to report on-site on local residents
helping and encouraging each other to overcome
difficulties under the lockdown. Our teams
covered the whole construction process of the
Huoshenshan Hospital, Leishenshan Hospital
and several other makeshift hospitals. We also
conducted interviews with frontline medical staff
about their thoughts and experiences on working
day and night and witnessing life and death
without the fear of hardships or infection. After
more than 70 days, Wuhan lifted its lockdown at
midnight on 8 April. Our interview teams stayed
in Wuhan to continue our coverage until the
locals gradually returned to normal life.

20205 %) - R AR ERAEHRERZBE WA RE
iE - P BB ERECREE I - S EHEVE - RNakk
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SHEREMREH - AEWFBRETERHEMZHIRE
ERATRR - A EREE AR TIE

Countries Taking Containment Measures amid Global Pandemic Outbreak

RIEEEER ZERIUEFEE

With outbreaks of the COVID-19 in various parts
of the world, the World Health Organisation
declared the COVID-19 a global pandemic in
March. The pandemic then spread widely across
the world, leading to a huge number of infections
in people. In view of the overwhelmed medical
system, governments of a number of countries
took a series of containment measures. Our
global correspondent stations in Asia, Oceania,
the Middle East, Europe, America and Africa
continuously sent detailed reports on the
pandemic since the beginning of the year,
giving accounts of topics ranging from people’s
views and attitudes towards the pandemic, the
measures implemented by the governments and
their outcomes, the results of medical research on
the virus and the progress of vaccine research and
development, the efforts of the frontline medical
personnel in the fight against the pandemic, to the
impact of the pandemic on the global economy.
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China’s Success in Pandemic Control Setting an Example for the World to Follow
REIK IS R SR

The COVID-19 is the most widespread global
pandemic that mankind has encountered over
the past century. The Chinese government has
taken effective measures to control the source
of infection. By focusing on the four categories
of people (i.e. confirmed cases, suspected
cases, patients with fever and close contacts
of confirmed cases), the prevention and control
policies including “early identification, early
report, early isolation and early treatment” and
“patients should be hospitalised, treated, tested
or quarantined as appropriate” were adopted to

successfully fight against the pandemic. With a
lawful, open, transparent and responsible attitude,
China immediately informed the international
community of the pandemic and shared its
prevention, control and treatment experience with
all parties without reservation, which has become
a model for other countries in the fight against
virus. After China's successful fight against the
virus, people's lives have returned to normal and
China’s economy has rebounded strongly with an
annual gross domestic product growth of 2.3% for
the year, making it the only major economy in the
world to achieve positive economic growth.

FEREENETRAEEENYEBESRENEIK
MRRITR - P BB REA D18 T Bl E LR -
LEwEE  mlB8E  BREE  H2BENERY
ERESINEAB RS B1T[R%E  BRE -
Prask - FAE] M [REREK - BaRs - ERE
% - FEfRERE ] PR RIMINEEE - PEH
REMRE - AF B AETNEE MW
ERAE@EREEES  2ERBHESHFHZHE
MBUALESR - RAHMZ ERRIUE R HAE - FEHH
RO BRIE%R  AREEMELS  £ERYR
B 2FHAEELEBEER23%  KAZKE—F
IRAE I P38 R ) T4 PR o




Annual Report 2020 & 2020

GLOBAL OUTLOOK //‘

EHRBH

4. The Assassination of Soleimani and the Escalating Tensions in the Middle East

FR=EER TRESIHEZR

Soleimani, the Iranian commander of the Quds
Force, a branch of the Islamic Revolutionary
Guard Corps responsible for extraterritorial
operations, was shot down by U.S. troops at
an lraqgi airport in early January, triggering a
rapid escalation of tensions in the Middle East.
Iran's Supreme Leader Khamenei vowed to
retaliate, and public outrage in Iran erupted in
anti-U.S. protests. Our reporters stationed in Iran
brought to Chinese audiences around the world
the latest developments of the situation and
conducted an exclusive interview with Sadr al-
Hosseini, Soleimani’s comrade, on the details of
the murder of Soleimani. Moreover, our reporters
in lrag also reported on Soleimani’s funeral and
the anti-U.S. sentiments among the local people.
Meanwhile, our reporters in the U.S. exclusively
interviewed Morgan Ortagus, the spokesperson
for the United States Department of State, who
asserted the U.S. position that the incident was
not an assassination but an act to bring a terrorist
to justice. Soon after the incident, the U.S. sent
additional troops to the Middle East. The then U.S.
president Donald Trump even claimed that the U.S.
military had targeted 52 Iranian sites and warned
Iran not to recklessly attack American targets,
further escalating the tensions in the Middle East.
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Black Lives Matter
}\ET‘] Ap IEFID

In May 2020, George Floyd, a 46-year-old black
man, was killed in Minnesota by a white police
officer after kneeling on his neck for over 9
minutes. The whole process was recorded on
video by bystanders, showing that police officers
did not respond to the pleading of Floyd. After the
videos went viral, the U.S. and the entire world
was shocked. Black Lives Matter movement,
a movement fighting for black people’s rights,
swept the entire U.S. after the incident. It was
estimated that 26 million people took part in
the protests throughout different cities in the
U.S., some of which had turned violent. This
incident also attracted the attention of many
countries around the world, and particularly, the
racial minorities who had been discriminated
against by the mainstream society. They also
took the opportunity to express their anger at the
inequalities they faced. Our reporters stationed

BEFREE (125 BRAR

in the U.S. reported on-site the protests and
violent clashes in various cities across the U.S.
Our correspondent stations around the world
also covered the news on the Black Lives Matter
protests and movements for equal rights taking
place in various parts of the world.
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The Implementation of Hong Kong National Security Law

BREmSREZOA

Hong Kong experienced the turmoil of the Anti-
Extradition Law Amendment Bill Movement in
2019, with social unrest still rampant in 2020.
The Standing Committee of the National People’s
Congress passed the Law on Safeguarding
National Security in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People's Republic
of China on 30 June 2020. The national law
was added to Annex Il to the Basic Law of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and
started to be applied in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region ("HKSAR") by way of
promulgation on the same day. The Office for
Safeguarding National Security of the Central
People's Government in the HKSAR was also
established in July. We comprehensively reported
on the positive effects of the implementation
of the Hong Kong National Security Law on the
society and economy.

U.S. Presidential Election
EEiFE TN

The contest between Donald Trump, who was
seeking for re-election, and Joe Biden, the
Democratic candidate, was unexpectedly tight in
the U.S. Presidential Election in November. The
votes were too close to call, leading to a long
delay in announcing the election results. After the
results became clear, Trump claimed that there was
serious voter fraud and refused to admit defeat.
He initiated a series of lawsuits to challenge the
results of the election, and called on supporters
to fight to the end. The entire U.S. society was on
the verge of division, which resulted in the most
unprecedented chaos in modern U.S. history.
Understanding that the political situation in the
U.S. could affect the global political and economic
landscape, we assigned our correspondent stations
worldwide before the general election to produce a
series of reports to analyse how the election results
might affect different countries. Our reporters in the
U.S. made full coverage of the election process,
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controversies and movement of both Trump and
Biden's camps. We kept track of the progress of
Trump’s lawsuits in the swing states after the
election, as well as analysed the composition of the
new Biden administration and reported the analysis
and prospects of the new policies.
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To become a global broadcaster, the core team of Phoenix
Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV")
comprises elite presenters, reporters and commentators
from Mainland China, Taiwan and Hong Kong as well as from
the global Chinese community who holds the mission of
propagating Chinese culture, creating all kinds of advantages
for Phoenix TV.

The broadcasting practices and political views on current
affairs of Phoenix TV presenters are often unique, their
extensive experience in television broadcasting has enhanced
the professionalism of Phoenix TV programmes, and
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international perspective and the voice of Chinese people.
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Comments on Segmental Information

DIRER R

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 &£ 20194
Segment Segment
Revenue results Revenue results
A DHEEE ON PakE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Television broadcasting BARER 747,052 (165,163) 921,541 (63,679)
Internet media bR eE 1,473,327 || (1,048,389) 1,777,598 1,265,042
Outdoor media PoNEEE 574,979 16,402 691,336 44,167
Real estate EihE 45,121 (124,285) 49,048 (14,564)
Other businesses HAb 5% 188,567 (104,817) 248,708 (141,208)
Group's total revenue and REBRWA R
segment results Pak 3,029,046  (1,426,252) 3,688,231 1,089,758
Unallocated income ROEEUA 98,120 36,392
Unallocated expenses ROEFXE (287,678) (282,668)
(Loss)/profit before share of BEEEDER
results of joint ventures and BN EHELE
associates, income tax and FTiStH & eI A i
non-controlling interests AT (E518) a R (1,615,810) 843,482

Revenue from television broadcasting, comprising advertising,
subscription and other revenue sources, which accounted for
24.7% of the total revenue of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or
“Phoenix”) for the year ended 31 December 2020, decreased 18.9%
to approximately HK$747,052,000 (year ended 31 December 2019:
HK$921,541,000) as a result of the adverse impact of COVID-19
outbreak on the global economy and market condition. As the cost
structure is relatively fixed, the segmental loss for the television
broadcasting business was approximately HK$165,163,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (year ended 31 December 2019:
HK$63,679,000).

Revenue from Phoenix Chinese Channel and Phoenix InfoNews
Channel, which accounted for 22.1% of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, decreased 16.5% to
approximately HK$669,266,000 (year ended 31 December 2019 :
HK$801,447000).

EREBURA (BEES  WHRITFRE
b YL A BER) T B& 18.9% = 49 747,052,000
B It (B 2201912 A318 IF F &
921,541,000 7T) - (G EEFRITE (1=
%) R AR ([ARAT]) REKE AR
([&EE] = [BEER]) 8 Z=2020%F 12
A3 BIEFERKARN24.7% © ZERE
TR S R B 2 IR RS AR R IE B F)
HBN - ARKAREEHET  BRE
BEBKREZE2020F12 A31HIEFE®
D HEE 1849/ 165,163,00078 7T (£ 2019
F12 A31HILFE : 63,679,00087T) °

BEER A XA RBEARE A BB
116.5% £ #7669,266,00078 7T (H = 2019
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The total revenue of Phoenix Hong Kong Channel, Phoenix Movies
Channel, Phoenix North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel and others decreased 35.2%
to approximately HK$77786,000 (year ended 31 December 2019 :
HK$120,094,000).

The revenue of the internet media business for the year ended 31
December 2020 decreased 17.1% to approximately HK$1,473,327000
(year ended 31 December 2019: HK$1,777598,000). The segmental
loss of internet media business for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$1,048,389,000 (year ended 31
December 2019: profit of HK$1,265,042,000) as a result of significant
net loss related to the investment in Particle Inc.

The revenue of the outdoor media business for the year ended 31
December 2020 decreased 16.8% to approximately HK$574,979,000
(year ended 31 December 2019: HK$691,336,000). The segmental
profit of the outdoor media business for the year ended 31 December
2020 decreased 62.9% to approximately HK$16,402,000 (year ended
31 December 2019: HK$44,167,000).

The segmental loss for real estate business for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$124,285,000 (year ended 31
December 2019: HK$14,564,000), which included the net fair value
loss of approximately HK$140,493,000 (year ended 31 December
2019: HK$6,847,000) recognised for the investment properties.

Please refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for a
detailed analysis of segmental information and the section entitled
“Business Overview and Prospects” in this report for commentary
on the core business of the Group.

The Impact of the Pandemic on the Group’s Operation

Strict pandemic prevention measures resulted from the outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic have affected all walks of life and caused the
general advertising market trend to deteriorate. In the first quarter
of 2020, customers adjusted their sales and marketing strategies
to cope with the pandemic, tended to be more conservative with
marketing expenditures and hence were less willing to place
advertisements. Contract negotiations had been made more difficult
with market opportunities shrunken overall. Phoenix's advertising
which was of no exception was seriously impacted. Fortunately,
crisis creates opportunities. The public demand for information

EEE W R
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AR 4 35.2% Z #)77,786,0007 7T (B &
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has leveraged under the pandemic. Coupled with social distancing
restrictions and work-from-home arrangements, more audiences
stayed at home, resulting in an increase in the overall viewership
leading to customer’s confidence in advertising on television and
new media. From the second quarter of 2020, advertising revenue
retrieved with a steady trend. As the pandemic in China had been
kept significantly under control in the second quarter and the
adjustment in pandemic prevention measures, outdoor media
business also rebounded significantly.

During the year, the Group adopted rigorous pandemic prevention
measures and all employees held on to their posts. Not only were
broadcasting safety and the normal business operation ensured, but
also a zero infection rate for Phoenix’'s employees worldwide was
achieved. The Group will closely monitor the development of the
pandemic, stay vigilant and continue to implement various measures,
carry on to monitor the impact of the pandemic on its financial
positions, cash flows and operating results, and be prudent in coping
with the future challenges.

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or “Directors”)
did not recommend the payment of final dividend to the shareholders
of the Company for the year (final dividend for 2019: Nil) due to the
economic instability and challenges in the media industry ahead.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM")
will be held at No. 2-6 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong on 4 June 2021, Friday at 3:00 p.m.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 1 June
2021, Tuesday to 4 June 2021, Friday (both dates inclusive), during
which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM, all share transfers
must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no
later than 4:30 p.m. on 31 May 2021, Monday.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's equity interest in Phoenix New
Media Limited (“"PNM") remained as 54.49% (as at 31 December
2019: 54.49%).

On 18 May 2020, Beijing Chenhuan Technology Co., Ltd.* (Ht®
EERHE AR AR]) (“Chenhuan Technology”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, transferred all of its 51%
of the equity interest in Beijing Yitian Xindong Network Technology
Co., Ltd.* (LR SR BAELEE L BR A A]) (“Yitian Xindong”) to
Shenzhen Shenghuayu Energy Conservation Service Co., Ltd.* (&3l
TREFERERE AR A A) (“Shenzhen Shenghuayu”), particulars
of which are set out in the section entitled “"Other Important Events
and Subsequent Events” in this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, PNM, an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, transferred 140,248,775
preferred shares in Particle Inc. (at the time of transfer, it represented
approximately 20.21% of the equity interest of Particle Inc.) to Run
Liang Tai Management Limited (“Run Liang Tai”). In aggregation
with the 94,802,752 preferred shares in Particle Inc. (at the time of
transfer, it represented approximately 15.18% of the equity interest
of Particle Inc.) previously transferred to Run Liang Tai in November
2019, a total of 235,051,527 preferred shares in Particle Inc. were
transferred to Run Liang Tai, particulars of the disposal of interest
in Particle Inc. are set out in the section entitled “Other Important
Events and Subsequent Events” in this report.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The liquidity and financial resources of the Group as at 31 December
2020 remained solid. As at 31 December 2020, the Group's total cash
and current bank deposits were about HK$1,849,547000 (as at 31
December 2019: HK$1,841,257.000), as well as structured deposits
of approximately HK$1,451,040,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
1,420,370,000) which have been recorded as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The aggregate outstanding borrowings of
the Group were approximately HK$726,179,000 (as at 31 December
2019: HK$820,929,000), representing non-interest bearing loans,
non-interest bearing loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, secured and interest bearing bank borrowings to fund
the investment in Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing and
other secured and interest bearing bank borrowings.

* For identification purpose only
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The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total liabilities to equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was 78.9% as at 31
December 2020 (as at 31 December 2019: 80.7%).

Save as disclosed above, the financial position of the Group
remained liquid. Most of the Group's monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars
("US$") and Renminbi (“"RMB"), with minimal balances in Pound
Sterling and New Taiwan dollars. The Group is therefore exposed to
foreign exchange risks arising from currency exposures, primarily with
respect to US$ and RMB. The Group manages its foreign exchange
risks by performing regular reviews and monitoring its foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will consider using forward currency
contracts as a tool to manage and reduce such risks. Taking into
account the Group's current operational and capital requirements, the
Directors do not consider the Group is significantly exposed to any
foreign currency exchange risk.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the land and property in Chaoyang Park,
Beijing, with carrying value of approximately HK$94,000,000,
HK$331,000,000 and HK$1,403,000,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
HK$92,000,000, HK$335,000,000 and HK$1,472,000,000) recorded
in right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and investment
properties respectively were pledged with a bank to secure a bank
borrowing to fund the investment in Phoenix International Media
Centre in Beijing. Bank deposit of approximately HK$387,640,000
(as at 31 December 2019: HK$391,465,000) was pledged with a
bank to secure a bank borrowing to optimise return through interest
difference and arrangement of external security within the loan. The
property in the United States with carrying value of approximately
HK$2,615,000 (as at 31 December 2019: HK$2,680,000) was pledged
with a bank to secure a bank borrowing.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other charges
on its assets as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
ordinary shares (the “Shares”) of HK$0.10 each, of which
4,993,469,500 Shares (as at 31 December 2019: 4,993,469,500
Shares) had been issued and fully paid.
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There was no option exercised under the Company’s share option
schemes during the year.

As at 31 December 2020, the operations of the Group were mainly
financed by owners’' equity, bank borrowings, loans from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and banking facilities.

STAFF

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 2,840 full-time staff (as
at 31 December 2019: 3,288) at market remuneration supplemented
with employee benefits such as comprehensive medical coverage,
insurance plan, defined contribution pension schemes and employee
share option schemes. Staff costs for the year ended 31 December
2020 decreased to approximately HK$1,301,022,000 (year ended 31
December 2019: HK$1,468,535,000).

To maintain uninterrupted business operation and to safeguard the
health and safety of employees, the Company had introduced a
number of precautionary measures in response to the COVID-19
pandemic, including strict compliance of relevant government
guidelines, implementation of work-from-home arrangement for
employees, health declaration and home confinement arrangement.
The Company also stepped up its hygiene measures by installing
infrared body temperature monitors, arranging disinfection of
workplace and company vehicles, providing hand sanitisers and
surgical masks to employees, and require staff to wear them when
they are in office. The Company also provides additional health
insurance coverage to its employees such as benefits and additional
cash subsidies in case of COVID-19 hospitalisation as well as
simplified claim procedure.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2020, the Group invested in listed securities
investments with estimated fair market value of approximately
HK$12,440,000 (as at 31 December 2019: HK$18,575,000) which was
recognised as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’
and such investments made up of less than 5% of the Group's total
assets. Save as disclosed above, the Group had not held any other
significant investment for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

In view of the challenging environment ahead, the Group will
continue to consolidate its existing businesses while exploring new
business opportunities that will complement and enhance its existing
businesses.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Various companies in the Group are involved in litigation arising in the
ordinary course of their respective businesses. Having reviewed the
outstanding claims and taking into account the legal advice received,
the Directors are of the opinion that adequate provisions have been
made in the consolidated financial information for the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company had not redeemed any Shares. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Shares
during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company had reviewed the Group's
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2020 and provided
advice and comments thereon before such statements were
presented to the Board for approval. The figures in respect of
the Group's consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and related notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2020
as set out in this report have been agreed by the Group’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, to the amounts set out in the Group’s draft
consolidated financial statements for the year. The work performed
by PricewaterhouseCoopers in this respect did not constitute an
assurance engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing, Hong Kong Standards on Review Engagements or Hong
Kong Standards on Assurance Engagements issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and consequently no
assurance has been expressed by PricewaterhouseCoopers on this
report.
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OTHER IMPORTANT EVENTS AND SUBSEQUENT
EVENTS

Change of Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ")

On 26 February 2021, Mr. LIU Changle (“Mr. LIU") resigned from his
role as CEO and Mr. XU Wei ("Mr. XU") was appointed as the new
CEO. Mr LIU remains as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
and an executive Director. The change of CEO can enhance the
corporate governance of the Group by splitting the roles of the
Chairman and the CEO in compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

For the biography of Mr. XU, please see the announcement of the
Company dated 26 February 2021.

Discloseable Transaction regarding the Disposal of Interest in
Yitian Xindong

On 18 May 2020, Chenhuan Technology, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company holding 51% of the equity
interest in Yitian Xindong, entered into agreements with Shenzhen
Shenghuayu, Tianyin Telecommunication Co. Ltd.* (K ZBEARE A
B]) (“Tianyin"), Yitian Xindong and the management team of Yitian
Xindong (collectively referred as the “Yitian Xindong Agreements”).

Among other things, pursuant to the Yitian Xindong Agreements:
(i) Chenhuan Technology agreed to sell all of its 51% of the equity
interest in Yitian Xindong at a consideration of RMB313,600,000 for
Shenzhen Shenghuayu to purchase and (i) all parties to the novation
agreements agreed that all rights and obligations of Chenhuan
Technology under the original agreements be novated to Shenzhen
Shenghuayu upon completion, which took place on 18 May 2020.

For details of the Yitian Xindong Agreements, please see the

announcements of the Company dated 18 May 2020 and 25 May
2020.

* For identification purpose only
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Very Substantial Disposal regarding the Disposal of Interest in
Particle Inc.

On 20 January 2020, PNM entered into a new agreement with Run
Liang Tai, Long De Holdings (Hong Kong) Co. Limited (“Long De
HK") and Longde Chengzhang (Tianjin) Investment Management
Center (Limited Partnership) in respect of the disposal (the
“Disposal”) of the equitable interest in Particle Inc. (the “January
2020 Agreement”).The key terms of the January 2020 Agreement,
amongst other things, are (i) the amount of shares in Particle Inc. to
be transferred by PNM to Run Liang Tai be adjusted to 202,563,176
preferred shares at a consideration of US$427336,067; (ii) the
amount of the equity interest of Beijing Yidianwangju Technology
Co., Ltd.* (b= — BB R B R A 7)) (“Beijing Yidianwangju”)
held by a nominee of PNM (the “Onshore Nominee") on behalf of
Beijing Particle Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (1t /X — By 48 8% (=
B R lT A IR A A) under a series of contractual arrangement, to be
transferred by the Onshore Nominee to Run Liang Tai be adjusted to
39.63% at a consideration of RMB3,955,320; (iii) Long De HK shall
co-sell a total of 9,794,989 preferred shares in Particle Inc. to Run
Liang Tai at a consideration of US$20,663,933.72; (iv) to facilitate
the first completion of the co-sale by Long De HK to Run Liang Tai,
PNM granted Run Liang Tai an interest-free loan in a total amount of
US$9,671,045.96 (the "PNM Loan"), and Run Liang Tai shall pledge
4,584,209 preferred shares in Particle Inc. to PNM as security (the
“Pledged Shares"”). For the avoidance of doubt, the transaction
under the January 2020 Agreement was modified under the August
2020 Agreement as defined below.

For details of the January 2020 Agreement, please see the

announcement of the Company dated 20 January 2020 and the
circular of the Company dated 20 April 2020.

* For identification purpose only
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Major Transaction regarding the Disposal of Interest in Particle
Inc.

On 7 August 2020, PNM entered into an agreement with Run Liang
Tai (the “August 2020 Agreement”), which has become legally
binding on 10 August 2020.

The key terms of the August 2020 Agreement, amongst other
things; are (i) the January 2020 Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder which had not been completed are
terminated (For the avoidance of doubt, the first completion of the
Disposal which took place when 94,802,752 preferred shares in
Particle Inc. were transferred to Run Liang Tai in November 2019
for a consideration of US$200,000,000, was not affected); (i) PNM
shall transfer another 140,248,775 preferred shares in Particle Inc.
to Run Liang Tai at a consideration of US$150,000,000; (iii) PNM
shall designate the Onshore Nominee to transfer approximately
42.9% equity interest in Beijing Yidianwangju to Run Liang Tai at a
consideration of RMB4,292,617; (iv) Run Liang Tai shall procure the
transfer of the legal title of the Pledged Shares to PNM for release
of its obligations to repay the PNM Loan; and (v) Run Liang Tai shall
pay those co-sale entities exercising the co-sale right at the price of
approximately US$1.07 per preferred share in Particle Inc. Completion
of the transaction took place on 19 October 2020.

For details of the August 2020 Agreement, please see the

announcement of the Company dated 10 August 2020 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 September 2020.

* For identification purpose only
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Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Changle, aged 69, is the Chairman of the board of directors
and Executive Director of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) since 2 February 2000, and is a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 26 February 2021. Mr. LIU
founded Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix
TV") in 1996. The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or
“Phoenix"”), now operating six satellite TV channels, is a globally
renowned trans-national multimedia group and a listed company on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Phoenix has expanded into other areas of business, including
internet media, outdoor media, weekly magazine, social media, App,
publication and education etc.

Mr. LIU gained widespread recognition both locally and overseas for
his enthusiasm for and achievements in the media industry. Mr. LIU
is the recipient of numerous titles and awards, among which include
Wiseman of the Media Industry, Leader of Global Mandarin TV
Program Providers, the Most Innovative Chinese Business Leaders
in the Asia Pacific Region, Chinese Business Leader with the Utmost
Social Responsibility in the Asia Pacific Region, Outstanding Figure
in Media Branding, Top 10 Most Entrepreneurial Chinese Business
Leaders, Top 10 Most Innovative Media Entrepreneurs in Mainland
China, Person of the Chinese Charity and Ten Most Successful
Men in China. Mr. LIU has also been awarded the Robert Mundell
Successful World CEO Award, the Media Entrepreneur Award in Ernst
& Young's China Entrepreneur Award and the Man of Year for Asia
Brand Innovation Award. He is also the recipient of the Top 10 Figures
in 2009-2010 Media Convergence in China award, the Outstanding
Media Management Award of the Chinese Society in the Truth, Virtue
and Beauty Media Award initiated by Buddhist Master Hsing Yun, the
Person of the Year award of the Chinese Business Leaders Annual
Meeting, the 2001-2010 Outstanding Contributor to the Chinese
Media by the China Media Annual Meeting, the Business Person of
the Year Award by the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong Business Awards 2012
and the Outstanding Contribution to Asian Television Award by the
Asian Television Awards 2015.

Since 2005, Mr. LIU has been the chairman of the iIEMMYs Festival,
which is run by the International Academy of Television Arts &
Sciences. In November 2008, Mr. LIU received the International
Emmy® Directorate Award.
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Mr. LIU is a visiting professor at a number of Mainland China
universities and a PhD supervisor of the Communication University
of China. He has been appointed to the board of directors of
Nanjing University, Tongji University and Huagiao University. He
was also conferred an honorary doctoral degree in literature by City
University of Hong Kong and was appointed the chairman of the
College International Advisory Board by the College of Business of
City University of Hong Kong. In June 2015, Mr. LIU was appointed
as honorary academician of United International College founded
by Beijing Normal University and Hong Kong Baptist University. In
May 2017 Mr. LIU was conferred an honorary degree of Doctor of
Philosophy by Nanhua University.

Mr. LIU was also appointed as honorary chairman of World Chinese-
language Media Co-operation Alliance, Honorable Director of the
Buddhist Association of China and Deputy President of Buddha's
Light International Association World Headquarters board of directors.

Mr. LIU has been appointed a Justice of the Peace by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region since
2004. In July 2010, Mr. LIU was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
In July 2016, Mr. LIU was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. LIU is a Standing Committee Member of the Thirteenth National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
He was a member of the Tenth and the Eleventh National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the vice
chairman of the Subcommittee on Education, Science, Culture, Health
and Sports, of the Eleventh National Committee of the Chinese
People's Political Consultative Conference and a Standing Committee
Member of the Twelfth National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. LIU was previously an independent non-executive director of
China Southern Airlines Company Limited from December 2011 until
December 2017.
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Mr. CHUI Keung, aged 69, has been appointed as the Executive
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
5 June 2000. He is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and Risk Management Committee of the Company and a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. CHUI graduated from
the department of journalism of Fudan University in Shanghai and
served in the China Central People’s Radio Station for over 10 years.
Since the establishment of Phoenix TV in 1996, he has been in charge
of the overall daily operations, the public relations and promotion
strategies of Phoenix TV, and the coordination of the relationships
with PRC government entities. He also assists in establishing and
implementing the corporate development strategies of the Group.

Throughout the term of office with Phoenix, Mr. CHUI has been
instrumental in Phoenix’s PRC domestic business development,
programme production, advertising operation, marketing network
and public relations. In 1996, he was in charge of the production of
Flying over the Yellow River, a major television programme of Phoenix
TV, which achieved popular success and heightened the popularity of
Phoenix TV in the PRC and overseas Chinese communities.

Prior to joining Phoenix, Mr. CHUI was a director and the general
manager of Tianhua International Culture and Art Company Limited in
Beijing focusing on developing various cultural, arts and publication
businesses.

Mr. WANG JiYan, aged 72, has been appointed as Executive Director
of the Company since 29 September 2006 and is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. WANG joined Phoenix TV in March
1996 and taught in Beijing Broadcasting Institute (now known as the
Communication University of China) for more than 20 years.

Mr. WANG is one of the leading television programme producers in
China and participated in the direction and production of a number
of television programmes in early years. His television programme
productions have won numerous domestic and overseas awards.

Mr. WANG is also a scholar in the television industry and has been
the panelist of various international television festivals. He is also a
renowned media educator and has a professor title. During the two
decades of teaching in the Beijing Broadcasting Institute, he was
the head of the television department for over ten years and was
the deputy dean of the Beijing Broadcasting Institute for six years.
Currently, he is also the PhD supervisor in Communication University
of China (formerly known as Beijing Broadcasting Institute).
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Mr. JIAN Qin, aged 55, has been appointed as the Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 16 November 2018. He is currently the
deputy general manager of China Mobile Communications Group Co.,
Ltd. and the director and deputy general manager of China Mobile
Communication Company Limited. Mr. JIAN is principally in charge of
marketing, customer service, online service and content aggregation
production of China Mobile.

Mr. JIAN previously served as deputy director of Jiangxi Nanchang
Telecommunications Bureau, general manager of China Mobile
Nanchang Branch, director and deputy general manager of China
Mobile Jiangxi Branch, chairman and general manager of China
Mobile Jiangxi Branch, China Mobile Sichuan Branch and China
Mobile Guangdong Branch.

Mr. JIAN graduated from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications, received a master’'s degree from School of
Management, University at Buffalo and a doctoral degree from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics. He is a senior engineer
with over 30 years of experience in the telecommunication industry.

Mr. ZHANG Dong, aged 52, has been appointed as a Non-Executive
Director and member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company since 6 June 2019. He is currently the general manager of
department of market operation of China Mobile Communications
Group Co., Ltd. Mr. ZHANG previously served as the deputy general
manager of China Mobile Group Jiangsu Company Limited and China
Mobile Group Hainan Company Limited, general manager of the
human resources department of Jiangsu Mobile Communication
Company Limited (“Jiangsu Mobile”), general manager of Jiangsu
Mobile Lianyungang branch and deputy general manager (presiding)
in Jiangsu Mobile Xuzhou branch.

Mr. ZHANG graduated from Nanjing University of Posts
and Telecommunications with bachelor degree of wireless
communication, and received a MBA from Nanjing University.
Mr. ZHANG has more than 20 years of experience in the
telecommunication industry.
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Ms. WANG Haixia, aged 47 has been appointed as Non-Executive
Director and member of the Audit Committee and Risk Management
Committee of the Company since 19 March 2021. She has been
the deputy executive president of Bank of China Group Investment
Limited (“BOCGI") since November 2020. Before joining BOCGI, Ms.
WANG held various positions in Bank of China from March 1999 to
October 2020, including the deputy general manager of the digital
platform center of the personal digital banking product department
from August 2019 to October 2020, and senior product manager and
deputy general manager of the e-finance department from May 2015
to August 2019. Ms. WANG holds a master degree.

Mr. SUN Qiang Chang, aged 64, has been appointed as a Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 16 August 2019. He is the
managing partner for China at TPG, a leading global alternative asset
firm. Prior to joining TPG, he founded and was the chairman of Black
Soil Group Ltd., an agriculture impact investing company. Before
founding Black Soil, he was the chairman, Asia Pacific at Warburg
Pincus, a global private equity firm. Prior to joining Warburg Pincus, he
was the executive director of Asia Investment Banking Department
at Goldman Sachs Hong Kong. Mr. SUN has extensive experience in
private equity investments for 28 years.

Mr. SUN obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree from the Beijing
Foreign Studies University and completed a post-graduate program
offered by the United Nations, where he worked as a staff translator
at the United Nations Secretariat in New York for three years. Mr.
SUN earned a joint degree of MA/MBA from the Joseph H. Lauder
Institute of Management & International Studies and the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania.

Mr. SUN is the founder and current honorary chairman of the China
Venture Capital and Private Equity Association (CVCA) and the
founder and current executive vice chairman of the China Real Estate
Developers and Investors' Association (CREDIA). Mr. SUN is also
a member of the Board of Governors of the Lauder Institute at the
Wharton School and a member of The China Entrepreneur Club.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, aged 85, has been appointed as Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 21 January 2005,
and is also a member of Audit, Nomination, Remuneration and
Risk Management Committees of the Company. Mr. LEUNG is a
retired member of CPA Australia, a member of the Macau Society of
Certified Practising Accountants and a fellow member of The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG is the founder and senior partner
of PKE Mr. LEUNG is the independent non-executive director of
S E A Holdings Limited and High Fashion International Limited. Mr.
LEUNG was previously a non-executive director of Beijing Hong
Kong Exchange of Personnel Centre Limited until January 2017 an
independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited
and YGM Trading Limited until September 2017 and an independent
non-executive director of Fujian Holding Limited until December 2018.
He was also a director of PKF Hong Kong Limited until 20 August
2020.

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK, aged 70, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since 11 March
2005. He is also the chairman of Audit and Nomination Committees,
and a member of Remuneration and Risk Management Committees
of the Company. Mr. BECZAK is currently an independent non-
executive director of Pacific Online Limited (also acted as member
of its audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee). He was also an independent non-executive director
of Singapore Exchange Limited (also acted as member of its risk
management committee and regulatory conflicts committee) until
24 September 2020, and an independent non-executive director of
MUFG Securities Asia (Singapore) Limited and MUFG Securities Asia
Limited until 7 January 2020.

Mr. BECZAK was previously an independent non-executive director
of China Minsheng Financial Holding Corporation Limited (also acted
as chairman of its nomination committee and member of audit
committee and remuneration committee) until 13 July 2017.

Mr. BECZAK is a graduate of Georgetown University (B.S.ES.) and
Columbia University (M.B.A.). He is a member of the Board of
Advisors of the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown.
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Mr. FANG Fenglei, aged 69, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 13 March 2013, and
is currently the chairman of HOPU INVESTMENTS and a director
of Goldman Sachs Gaohua Securities Company Limited. Mr. FANG
previously served as a deputy chief executive officer of China
International Capital Corporation Limited and chief executive officer of
both BOC International Holdings Limited and ICEA Finance Holdings
Limited. Mr. FANG was also a non-executive and non-independent
director and member of the Investment Committee of Global Logistic
Properties Holdings Limited, the securities of which are listed on the
Mainboard of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, non-
executive director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Central China Real Estate
Limited. Mr. FANG holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sun Yat-sen
University.

Mr. HE Di, aged 73, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 20 August 2016. He retired
from UBS Investment Banking as the vice chairman and the head
of CCS China on 31 March 2020. After joining UBS in 1997 Mr. HE
had participated and led most of the firm’s milestone transactions
such as restructuring and IPOs of SOEs, including Bank of China
HK, Bank of China, China Merchants Bank, China Pacific Insurance,
China Merchants Securities, New China Life, China Everbright
Bank, COSCO, China Communications Construction Company Ltd,
China Railway Engineering Corp etc. He also led the IPOs of private
companies including Mindray, SOHO, BYD Company etc., RT-Mart,
Hon Hai/Foxconn Technology Group. In addition, he led the merger
and acquisition of, and financing for PCCW, China Mobile, China
Telecommunication, SINOPEC and etc.

Mr. HE has also been deeply involved UBS initiatives in China,
including setting up the first fully licensed joint venture Securities firm
— UBS Securities, as well as the first and largest QFIl quota for UBS
Equity and Asset Management.

Prior to joining UBS, Mr. HE was the co-founder and president of
Standard International Investment and Management Co, a leading
PRC consultancy and investment firm based in Beijing since 1993. He
was a research fellow and assistant director of Institute of American
Studies of CASS and studied Sino-U.S. relations for more than 10
years. He was also a visiting scholar at Stanford University, University
of California Berkeley and Brookings Institution. Mr. HE graduated
from the People's University of China with a Bachelor of Arts in
History and Law in 1982 and later a Master of Arts in International
Politics from John Hopkins University. He is co-founder and director
general of Boyuan Foundation, which was established in 2008.
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Senior Management

Mr. XU Wei, aged 54, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer on 26 February 2021. He has obtained a bachelor degree
of law at international journalism department of Beijing University
of International Relations, an MBA degree from China Europe
International Business School and a doctor degree of management
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University.

Mr. XU worked in the Shanghai Branch of Financial Times, served
as the director of the news department of Shanghai Eastern Radio,
the general manager and editorin-chief of Shanghai Oriental Satellite
TV Media Co., Ltd, the head of the press and publicity department
and spokesman of the Bureau of Shanghai World Expo Coordination,
the spokesman and director of Information Office of Shanghai
Municipality, and the Party Committee Secretary and research fellow
of the Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences.

Mr. SUN Yusheng, aged 60, was appointed as the Executive Vice
President and Editorin-Chief of the Company on 24 February 2021.
Mr. SUN had served in China Central Television for more than 30
years. He was the vice president, deputy editorin-chief and was the
director of news centre. He has extensive experience in television
broadcasting industry. Mr. SUN was the recipient of the State Council
Special Allowance and was elected as the vice president of the Asia-
Pacific Broadcasting Union (“ABU") in 2017 he was the first Chinese
to become a senior official of ABU.

Mr. SUN is a part-time professor at the School of Journalism and
Communication at Tsinghua University. He graduated from Jilin
University with a bachelor’'s degree in economics and holds the
professional qualification of senior editor granted by the Ministry of
Radio, Film and Television, China.

Mr. HE Daguang, aged 63, is a member of the Risk Management
Committee of the Company and is a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He is also the Chief Innovation Officer and
Executive Vice President of the Group. Mr. HE joined Phoenix TV in
2001, since then he served as the Chief Financial Officer (Mainland
China) and Vice President of the Group. He is currently responsible
for the Group's departmental coordination and daily affairs, the
Company'’s daily operation as well as finance, human resources and
administration affairs. Mr. HE graduated from Shaanxi Institute of
Finance and Economics in 1983. After his graduation, Mr. HE worked
for China International Water & Electric Corporation as the deputy
chief accountant and the managing director subsequently. During
such period, Mr. HE was mainly responsible for business and financial
management in respect of investment and development projects in
collaboration with various international financial institutions.
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Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung, aged 61, is the Company Secretary and a
member of the Risk Management Committee of the Company. He is
the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Group,
the qualified accountant of the Company and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. YEUNG joined Phoenix TV in March
1996 and is in charge of all of Phoenix TV's internal and external
financial management and arrangements as well as the supervision
of legal, administration and personnel matters.

Mr. YEUNG graduated from the University of Birmingham and
remained in the United Kingdom until 1992 after obtaining his
qualification as a chartered accountant. Upon returning to Hong Kong,
he worked at Hutchison Telecommunications and Star Television
Limited in the fields of finance and business development.

Mr. LIU Shuang, aged 51, was appointed as the Chief Operating
Officer of the Company on 18 February 2014 and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is currently a director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Phoenix New Media Limited (“PNM"),
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are
listed by way of American Depository Shares on the New York Stock
Exchange in the United States.

Mr. LIU has served as a director and Chief Executive Officer of PNM
since its inception in 2007 Mr. LIU has also served the Group from
2001 to the present in various management positions, including Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Director of business development and Vice
President in charge of investment, finance, investor relationships,
legal affairs, public affairs and development of the finance channel.
Before joining the Group, Mr. LIU worked at Simpson Thacher &
Bartlett LLP. Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP and Morrison
& Foerster LLP from 1996 to 2001. Mr. LIU is qualified in the New
York State Bar, and received a J.D. degree from Duke University
Law School, and a Bachelor’s degree from University of International
Business & Economic.

Mr. LIU is a nephew of Mr. LIU Changle, being the Chairman of the
Company.

Mr. LIU Zuogeng, aged 55, is currently the Executive Vice President
of the Group. He is also the Chief Executive Officer of Phoenix
Metropolis Media Technology Co., Ltd. ("PMM"), a subsidiary of the
Company.

Mr. LIU founded PMM in 2007 and has become the Chief Executive
Officer of PMM since then. He has over 30 years working and
managerial experience in media industry. Mr. LIU served as the
Vice President - advertising sales and Vice President - business
development of the Group, and also served as the vice president of
Asia Television Limited.

Mr. LIU graduated from Beijing Broadcasting Institute (currently
Communication University of China) with a bachelor’'s degree. He
holds an EMBA degree from Peking University, Guanghua School
of Management and holds the professional qualification of senior
economist.
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is
committed to ensuring a high standard of corporate governance in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and devotes considerable effort to identify and formalise best
practices.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
which combined its existing principles and practices with most of
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) — with the objective of
taking forward a corporate governance structure which builds on
the Company’s own standards and experience, while respecting the
benchmarks set in the Code.

The Company has an in-house audit function to assist the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board” or the "“Director(s)"”)
in monitoring and advising on the effectiveness of the Company
and its subsidiaries’ (the “Group”) governance, risk management
and internal control processes. The risk management committee
of the Company has also monitored the progress on corporate
governance practices, risk management and internal control systems
of the Company throughout the year under review. The following
summarises the corporate governance practices of the Company and
the explanations of deviations from the Code.

Save as disclosed below, the Company has, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2020, complied with the Code.
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(1)

ERREE

Distinctive Roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

Code Provision

Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

Deviation and its Reasons

During the reporting year, Mr. LIU Changle (“Mr. LIU") had
been continually serving as both the chairman of the Board
(the “Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
(the “CEQ") since its incorporation. On 26 February 2021, he
resigned from the role as CEO.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Code Provision

Under the second limb of code provision A.4.2, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Deviation and its Reason

The Chairman, namely Mr. LIU, is not subject to retirement by
rotation, which deviates from code provision A.4.2.

The reason for such deviation was due to the provision of
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”), which provided that the Chairman and/or the
managing director shall not, whilst holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire each year. The
Board considers that consecutive appointment of the Chairman
is beneficial to the direction and implementation of the
Company’'s long term business planning and strategy, and as
such, the Board is of the view that the Chairman should not be
subject to retirement by rotation.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, it was confirmed that
the Directors have complied with the above-mentioned required
standards of dealings regarding Directors’ securities transactions
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct governing
securities transactions by the employees of the Group who may
possess or have access to inside information in relation to the Group
or its securities.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. LIU had been continually serving as both the Chairman and the
CEO since its incorporation until 26 February 2021 when he resigned
from the role of CEO. Mr. XU Wei was appointed as the new CEO
and Mr. LIU remains as the Chairman and an executive Director. The
roles of the Chairman and the chief executive are separate and are
not performed by the same individual. This can enhance the corporate
governance of the Group in compliance with the Code.

The Chairman is responsible for leading and overseeing the
effectiveness of the Board and ensuring good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established. The CEO is delegated with
the authorities to manage the business operation and to devise and
implement strategic plans of the Group as approved by the Board.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO
has been clearly established and set out in writing.

F4 2020

ERERRESE

EENEFRH

ARRERA LR BIKTEK 10 PTE A0 L7
BITANEBETEFZHNRETRINMRE
BERE  FLHERETERRFNET
55l -

KEMBESELETERE  BREERN
HZE2020F 12 A31BItFERN—HES
LT ERESETELFRINATEER

# o

RARIRE RN A BB LS BB
SEEBFANREENASEREBFMET
MEHFR ZIITEERN TR

TR RATHARE,

215 E B AR R AR —EEEEE
FITHMES, - 202142 F26 B HEHETT
BEEBERIE - REEERZTAIITR
BEMB T REETERRITES -
FERRITHEEMNAG B IERE— AR
T - AT A AR EE K ST
Z5FAl ©

IRTBEARREEEONEBESEENA
Mt RRRELRIFERERIER 17
BRAAERIERR, TIE N B IR E B EISE BRI
EVEREEESREANEERRETTE - =
7 EITHARE 2 MR BE - T2 /BMET AL
AEmT AT -

61



62

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRESE

Board of Directors

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising the Company's affairs such
as approval of financial results, significant financial transactions,
appointment of Directors and appointment and removal of the
Company's auditor, etc. The Board is also responsible for reviewing
and monitoring corporate governance functions including the
effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
systems and Environmental Social Governance (the "ESG") issues.
It should be noted that the Company'’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The management of the Company is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group and the development and implementation
of corporate strategies. For significant matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board, the management of the Company must
report back to and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Group.

The Company has maintained liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage for liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.

Composition

As at 31 December 2020 and as at the date of this report, the Board
comprises three executive Directors, four non-executive Directors
and four independent non-executive Directors (the "INEDs"). The
Board composition is well balanced with an appropriate mix of skills,
experience and expertise contributing to the effective functioning
of the Board and development of the Group. The brief biographical
details of all the Directors are set out in the section entitled “Corporate
Information” and “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this
report.

The Board has also adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 1 September
2013. Please refer to the section entitled “Board Committees —
Nomination Committee” of the "“Corporate Governance Report” for
details.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the INEDs their annual
confirmation of independence. During the year, the Nomination
Committee has assessed the independence of each of the INEDs
pursuant to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Board and committee meetings and general meetings

The Board holds at least four meetings a year to review the
Group’s financial and operating performance, governance and risk
management and each Board committee holds at least one meeting
a year. The Company held five Board meetings, one annual general
meeting (the “AGM") and two extraordinary general meetings (the

“EGM") in the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Details of individual Director's attendance at the Board meetings,
general meetings and other board committees meetings are
as follows (attendance records for senior management in Risk
Management Committee meeting are included for reference only):
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Meetings Attended or Eligible to Attend

BhE/AEREEZEE
Risk

Name of Directors/ Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management
Senior management AGM EGM Committee Committee Committee Committee
B3fig/ BE RE Board £ R4 W BRER
BREEAE BEXE  KEAE £ ZE8 ZE% ZE% ZE%
Executive Directors HiTEF
Mr. LIU Changle URe%E i 02 55 - - - -

(Chairman and CEQ)' (FREARER)
Mr. CHUI Keung (Deputy CEO) B (RHEanER) i il 565 - n - 0
Mr. WANG JiYan InERE 0t 1/ 4f5 - - - -
Non-executive Directors FiEE
Mr. GONG Jianzhong? ZEpngir - - N n - - 01
Mr. HUANG Tao® EERE 0/1 012 24 N - - -
Mr. JIAN Qin ek 01 02 0/5 - - - -
Mr. ZHANG Dong FAEE on 02 15 - - o -
Mr. SUN Qiang Chang S on 112 55 - - - -
INEDs BUHHEE
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim 2ERRE ot 1l 5 20 1 1 i
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Thaddeus Thomas i 112 4f5 22 /1 1 1/

BECZAK BECZAK &
Mr. FANG Fenglei FREERE i 112 55 - - - -
Mr. HE Di Bhihika 011 02 4 - - - -
Senior Management EREEAZ
Mr. HE Daguang fIRxLE - - - - - - on
Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung BRALE - - - - - - N
Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below): i (NEARTXER) ¢

= not applicable = TEmA

! Mr. LIU Changle resigned as the CEO on 26 February 2021.
2 Mr. GONG Jianzhong resigned from the Board on 27 March 2020.
3

Mr. HUANG Tao was appointed as a Director on 27 March 2020 and

resigned on 19 March 2021.

! BIR L4 A 14202142 A 26 B BHE THAEE,

2 BRI AN20203H27HEHESS -

3 EELEAN2020F3F 27 AEEZEESE
WA 2021 E3 19 HEHT »
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During the year, the Board held five Board meetings to discuss and
formulate the Group's overall strategies, to review and approve
the Group's business performances including interim and annual
results as well as other operating performances including continuing
connected transactions, material transactions, corporate governance,
ESG, risk management, change of directors, regulatory compliance
and other significant matters. A private meeting was held between
the Chairman and the INEDs without the presence of other Directors
during the year.

Directors’ induction and professional development

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a comprehensive
package to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Group's
business and his/her role and responsibilities as a Director under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Each Director is required to provide the Company with his
training records on an annual basis. During the year, the Company had
also provided in-house training and from time to time sent reference
materials on updates of the relevant laws and Listing Rules to the
Directors.
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Summary of the Directors’ training records for the year are as follows: ~EZRAFEAIEIEHHALT

Read materials

relevant to
the Company’s
Attended business or
seminars update on legal
conducted by and regulation
professional BEEAAT Attended
parties EKR in-house
Name of Directors HESEAL EERREN trainings
EEpg EHROTAE EXHEENER H R
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. LIU Changle BIR&SEE - v v
(Chairman and CEO)’ (EEFRTHEE)
Mr. CHUI Keung (Deputy CEO) ERE A (BRAITTHRER) - Vv v
Mr. WANG Ji Yan THEEE - v v
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Mr. GONG Jianzhong? BERR A2 - v -
Mr. HUANG Tao? HEkES - v
Mr. JIAN Qin LEP - v -
Mr. ZHANG Dong KR4 - Vv -
Mr. SUN Qiang Chang Bk - Vv
INEDs BUHNTEF
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim RERELE v v v
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Thaddeus Thomas - V -
BECZAK BECZAK 4
Mr. FANG Fenglei HRELE - v v
Mr. HE Di % - - v v
Remarks it
\/ = attended \ = HifE
! Mr. LIU Changle resigned as the CEO on 26 February 2021. ! RIRLESAR202142 A 26 B BHE THAEH, ©
2 Mr. GONG Jianzhong resigned from the Board on 27 March 2020. 2 BRI EN2020F3A27THREESS ©
3 Mr. HUANG Tao was appointed as Director on 27 March 2020 and  ° EELAEN2020F3 27 A EZEES
resigned on 19 March 2021. WH 202143 A19HEHT -
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Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee (collectively referred as the “Board Committees”)
each with specific written terms of reference in alignment with the
relevant code provisions as set out in the Code to assist the Board
to discharge its functions. The terms of reference of the Board
Committees are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and advise
on the Company'’s interim and annual results, financial reports and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and to
discuss auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. WANG Haixia and two INEDs,
namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK (chairman of the Audit
Committee) and Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and had
reviewed the Group’s interim and annual results with the Company’s
management and external auditor and recommended their adoption
to the Board, discussed key internal audit matters, reviewed the
independence and engagement of the external auditor, audit plans,
internal control performance as well as effectiveness of the internal
control system. Members' attendance records of the meetings are
disclosed on page 63 of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and members of senior management of the
Company with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies,
the Board's corporate goals and objectives, time commitment and
responsibilities of the individual. The emolument particulars of
individual Directors and the senior management for the year are
set out in notes 8 and 45 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.
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As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised
one non-executive Director, namely Mr. ZHANG Dong and two INEDs,
namely Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim and Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK.

With Mr. BECZAK acting as the chairman, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting during the year to make
recommendation to the Board on the directors’ fees of the INEDs,
and to review bonus payments for year 2020 and the increment in
salary for year 2021. As the existing directors’ service contracts of
two executive Directors expires on 30 June 2021, there were no
directors’ service contracts requiring approval during the reporting
year. Members' attendance records of the meetings are disclosed on
page 63 of this report.

Nomination Committee

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition (including the Directors’ skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board annually, to assess the
independence of INEDs, to identify qualified individuals suitable to
become Director in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy and to make such recommendations to the
Board when necessary.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted with an aim to achieve board
diversity with consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional
experience, merit and contribution to the Board as well as other
factors based on the Company’s business model and specific needs
from time to time. The Nomination Committee is delegated with the
responsibility to review at least annually on the Board’'s composition
under diversified perspectives and monitor the implementation of this

policy.
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A Nomination Policy was adopted on 16 November 2018 which
sets out the selection criteria (reputation for integrity, merits and
professional experience, skills, length of service in industries in line
with the Company's corporate strategy, time commitment in Board
matters and contribution to the diversity of the Board), procedure
for nomination of suitable director candidates to the Board for
considerations, and make recommendations to Shareholders for
election as directors at general meetings or appoint directors to
fill casual vacancies. The Nomination Committee is delegated with
the responsibility of identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become Board members with adequate consideration of this policy.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for monitoring the
implementation of this policy and reviewing the policy as appropriate
to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprised
one executive Director namely Mr. CHUI Keung and two INEDs
namely, Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK (chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year and
had reviewed the independence of all INEDs in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, recommended to the Board the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the AGM held on 5 June 2020,
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and considered and recommended to the Board the appointments of
Mr. HUANG Tao as a non-executive Director. During the year under
review, the Nomination Committee considered the Board’s current
composition was adequately diversified. The Company always strives
to improve gender diversity in the Board, and welcome female
directors with investment, management or media experiences to
join the Board. Members' attendance records of the meetings are
disclosed on page 63 of this report.

Risk Management Committee

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee are to
review the Company's risk management policies and monitor the
implementation and development of the risk management system,
assess the strategic, financial, operational, compliance and other
risks of the Company, annual review of the risk management and
internal control systems including the change in nature and extent of
significant risks, the scope and quality of management’'s monitoring
of the Company'’s internal audit function, the communication of
monitoring results to the Board, identification of significant control
weakness and effectiveness of the procedures on financial reporting
and compliance of the Listing Rules.
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As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee
comprised one executive Director, namely Mr. CHUI Keung (chairman
of the Risk Management Committee), one non-executive Director,
namely Ms. WANG Haixia, two INEDs, namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
BECZAK and Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, two Executive Vice Presidents,
namely Mr. HE Daguang and Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung.

The Risk Management Committee held one meeting during the year
and had discussed the emerging and other key risks that the Group
was encountering and the respective risk management measures.
The management of the Company had also submitted to the Risk
Management Committee a written confirmation on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, which
was considered and accepted by the Risk Management Committee.
Members' attendance records of the meeting are disclosed on page
63 of this report.

Ad Hoc Committee

The Company adopted the terms of reference of the ad hoc
committee to deal with ad hoc matters, which sets out detailed
directions as to the powers delegated to the ad hoc committee. Any
two Directors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements for each financial year end, which gives a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in accordance with all
relevant statutory requirements and suitable accounting standards.
The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the independent auditor's responsibilities are set out
in the section entitled” Independent Auditor’s Report” of this report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance and implementing sound risk management and internal
control systems to achieve sustainable long-term growth.

Managing risk is an integral part of the Group’s business strategies.
The Group's risk management philosophy and approach aim to
enhance shareholder value and achieve balance between risks
and rewards, maximising business opportunities while minimising
adverse outcomes.
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The Board acknowledges that its overall responsibility includes
ensuring that the Group has established and maintained appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems at least once annually.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses. The Board evaluates and determines the
Group's risk appetite in different aspects including sustainability,
strategic, financial, operational, compliance, reputational, legal, IT and
cyber risks, and media credibility, ethical, social and environmental
responsibility. The Board has approved and issued a Group Risk
Management Policy which sets forth the risk management principles,
approach and procedures of the Group and is formally communicated
to all executives within the Group.

The management is fully aware of its responsibilities for the design
and implementation of robust risk management and internal control
systems across the Group, and the responsibility to continuously
monitor such systems. The management grasps risks the Group is
facing and endeavors to ensure the risk mitigation strategies could
bring the residual risks in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The management is committed to creating and maintaining a risk
management culture in the Group and continuously manages risks
in daily business and operation. The management stays alert to
emerging risks and uncertainties arising from economic, political,
market or social changes, collects and analyses market intelligence
and data which may adversely impact the Group’s operation.

The executive management meetings, chaired by the CEO and with
attendance of senior management and executives from operational
and supporting functions, are regularly held to discuss major
issues in the areas of strategy, business and operations, finance,
regulation, compliance and other administrative matters in which any
significant emerging risks or risk changes are identified, evaluated
and timely addressed. Another important meeting is the programme
executives meetings, chaired by the Executive Vice President of the
Company and with attendance of executives mainly from programme
production and sales functions, which are bi-weekly held to discuss
and manage issues and risks from programme production.

On top of these two regular management meetings, at the corporate
level, as an important line of defense, the management with
headquarters finance, legal and business development functions
together work as a risk management team to identify and manage
major risks in their day-to-day collaboration and act as gatekeepers
against strategic, financial, operational, regulatory and compliance
risks in the Group’s daily operation and business development
process. Risk information is shared transparently between
management and headquarters functions.
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To continuously monitor risks and performance of the Group's
business units, the Company assigns members of its senior
management to sit on the Board of all major subsidiaries. Also,
the Group has established and implemented standard periodic
operational and financial reporting mechanisms which strictly require
all business units of the Group, in the form of reporting package,
update the headquarters in the areas of their business and financial
performance, major investments and transactions, major projects and
events, material risk and control matters, etc.

As to the internal controls and procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, in order to mitigate the risk of
leakage of inside information which may result in insider dealing and
violation of the relevant statutory and regulatory requirement, the
Group has implemented Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information.
The policy provides guidelines to Directors, executives and all relevant
employees of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group
is properly handled and disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner. The policy also includes a spokesperson arrangement
and clearly sets out the reporting lines for employees who become
aware of any non-public price-sensitive information. Besides, the
headquarters Legal Department ongoingly maintains a full list of
relevant employees to whom memorandum must be sent to remind
them about prohibition on dealing in securities of the Company during
the black-out periods. The Group has also adopted Shareholders’
Communication Policy which is approved by the Board and aims to
ensure the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company, and allow Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company. Both policies are under regular review by
the Board to ensure their adequacy and effectiveness.

The main feature of the Group’s risk management and internal control
system is its ability to dynamically and effectively capture and evaluate
significant emerging risks and risk changes, both quantitatively
and qualitatively, and to timely manage risks by appropriate risk
responses and mitigation strategies. The source, trigger, event and
consequences of risks are analysed and documented in the Group
Risk Register. The Group has developed its own risk management
framework, which is designed in reference to the internationally
recognised Enterprise Risk Management Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) and Internal Control and Risk Management Basic Framework
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA).
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Phoenix Group Enterprise Risk Management Framework
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The Board
sets the risk culture and tone,
determines risk appetite of the
Group, and is responsible for the
Group's risk management and
internal control systems

Group Internal Audit
assists the Board, Risk Management
Committee and Audit Committee to
review the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal
control systems

Risk Management Committee
and Audit Committee
are mandated by the Board
and ongoing oversee the
effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal
control systems
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Legal and compliance
risk management and controls
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in and supervises risk
management of the Group

Financial risk management
and controls
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The Board, through its Audit Committee and Risk Management
Committee, oversees the Group's risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis. Both Committees report to the
Board material weaknesses and significant deficiencies identified and
their impact on the Company’s financial performance and condition.
The primary functions and compositions of the Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee are set out in the section entitled
“Board Committees” on and pages 66 to 69 respectively of this
report.

To assist the Board in monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems, the Group has an internal audit department (the
“Internal Audit”) in place to provide independent and objective
appraisal and assurance in the areas of corporate governance, risk
management and internal control for the Group.

The internal audit charter and annual internal audit plans are duly
approved by the Board. The Internal Audit reports functionally to
Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee to preserve
its independence. The Group internal auditors possess sufficient
expertise and professional qualifications in the areas of risk
management and internal control assurance.

The Internal Audit evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems with a risk-
based audit approach, covering major processes, activities and
changes which are quantitatively or qualitatively significant to the
Group. Internal Audit identifies and evaluates key risks which affect
the achievement of business objectives, and review if management
has implemented appropriate and effective risk mitigation strategies
and control measures in response to the risks. Internal Audit provides
practical and value added recommendations on the identified internal
control weaknesses and deficiencies, among which the significant
issues and irregularities would be timely reported to the management
and the relevant board committees for assessment and rectification.

To comply with the risk management and internal control code
provisions under the Listing Rules, the Board, through the Audit
Committee and the Risk Management Committee together with the
assistance of the Internal Audit, conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2020, covering all major
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. The Directors particularly considered
the changes, since the last annual review, in the nature and extent
of significant risks, and the Company's effectiveness to respond to
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such changes. Besides, the Directors reviewed the scope and quality
of the management'’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems with reference to the assurance results
provided by the Internal Audit. The Directors also reviewed the extent
and frequency of communication of monitoring results to the Board
committees to facilitate their review of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems.

As a conclusion, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Board, with written confirmation from the management, considered
the Group's risk management and internal control systems as
adequate and effective. The management’s confirmation was
endorsed by the Company’s Risk Management Committee. Details of
the major risks the Group is facing are set out on pages 100 to 101 of
this report, under the section entitled “Business Review” in “Report
of Directors”

The Board, through the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, also assessed in the aforementioned review the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions and considers that they are adequate.

External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”) was appointed as the external
auditor of the Company by Shareholders at the AGM held on 5 June
2020. A statement by the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this
report. The remuneration in respect of services provided by PwC
(including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management) for the Group is analysed as follows:

Audit Service EIRTE
Non-audit Service IEEZIRTE
Tax Service TSRS
Total FEE
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Company Secretary

Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) since 25 April 2000.
All Directors have access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Mr. YEUNG has confirmed that he had
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to professional
training during the 2020 financial year.

Articles of Association

The Company did not amend its Articles of Association during the
year under review.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholder(s) to propose the convening of
extraordinary general meeting(s)

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholder(s) to propose a person for election
as a Director

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Board for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a Shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the AGM for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the Company's head office for a minimum period of seven (7)
days. The minimum period of seven (7) days for lodgment of the
aforementioned notice will commence no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the AGM appointed for such election
and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such AGM.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
retiring Director for election as a director of the Company at the AGM,
the above documents must be lodged at the registered office or head
office of the Company to the attention of the Company Secretary for
a minimum seven (7) day period commencing no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the AGM.

For further details of the procedures, please refer to the
announcement published on the websites of both the Company and
the Stock Exchange on 28 March 2012.

Shareholders” Communication Policy

The Board has a high regard for investor relationship in particular, fair
disclosure, comprehensive and transparent reporting.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM and other general
meetings of the Company and the Board always seeks to fully
address any questions raised by the Shareholders at each AGM and
general meeting.

A Shareholders’” Communication Policy was adopted by the Company
to ensure the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to enable
the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and
to allow the Shareholders and the investment community to engage
actively with the Company. The Board will review the Shareholders’
Communication Policy from time to time in order to ensure its
effectiveness.
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Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a Dividend Policy on 12 February 2019 to
allow Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the Company’s future growth. The
policy sets out the consideration factors for recommendation and
declaration of dividend payment, such as the Group's business and
financial performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves
of each member of the Group, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure and future development plans and other factors that the
Board deems relevant. The payment of the dividend is also subject
to approval by the Shareholders and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the laws of Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association.

Investor Relations

The Company provides extensive information about the Company
to the investors and potential investors through the Company's
professional investor relation website on www.irasia.com/listco/
hk/phoenixtv. Hard copies of the annual report, interim report and
circulars are sent to all Shareholders, which are also available on the
Company'’s professional investor relation website.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries either by post, by
facsimiles or by email, together with their contact details, such as
postal address, email or fax, to the head office of the Company at the
following address, facsimile number or via email:

No. 2-6 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2200 8340

Email: hkcss@phoenixtv.com

Conclusion

The Company strongly believes that good corporate governance
can safeguard the effective allocation of resources and protect
Shareholders’ interests and the management tries to maintain,
strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the Group's
corporate governance.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) and the
management of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) firmly
believe that, as an enterprise develops, in
addition to its economic value, it must also
give even more consideration to its value to
the society. And an enterprise must fulfill its
social responsibilities and uphold its standard
of morality and conscience so as to stay in
a strong position. This is the mission and
objective of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group” or “Phoenix”) concerning its
corporate social responsibilities.
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The Board and the management of the Company firmly believe
that, as an enterprise develops, in addition to its economic value, it
must also give even more consideration to its value to the society.
And an enterprise must fulfill its social responsibilities and uphold
its standard of morality and conscience so as to stay in a strong
position. This is the mission and objective of the Group concerning its
corporate social responsibilities.

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group's environmental,
social and governance strategies and reporting. In terms of policy,
the Group has implemented a Board-approved Corporate Social and
Environmental Responsibilities Policy. The policy sets out the tone
and direction, and provides guidelines for the social, charity and
environmental protection activities of the Group, so that the Group
can fulfill its social and environmental protection responsibilities in a
more effective way, and also comply with the disclosure requirements
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

In terms of strategy, leveraging its own advantages as a media
company and its brand influence, the Group provides public welfare
information and organises charity events through its omni-media
platform to pool together resources from charitable organisations,
media partners and caring enterprises, with the aim of promoting
charity, facilitating public welfare and environmental protection
projects and making contributions to the society's sustainable
development.

F4 2020

R - 4 ERERHE

ARREEENERERE  —EhXMH
B TEZEGAEEEE E2EREHN
HEEE EBRTHEETEARBRRA
EA BN ERAEEAED
EheEE TR RER -

EESYUAKENRE e LEARKE
EHEREEE - FHR L - AEEEHEL
EEEMEREN(RELERRBRIR
) ZHRR/ASENHE « A ERE
REFBEEER - B AL RHES]
EEMBAEEE I EITH® BRITR
EEL UNABREBMARXZMBRAR
(B3 Ar)) @z EmARA ([ EmRA ) &
BREIENAHRERK -

SRR L - AEREFIA B S ERES ka
EEEN  EBAKENERETE  EH
REEH - BPRAREY - BARER K
BEMH BLoESHENERSERK B
BREHARIER - HBRAMERRIEAR -
REEAREEREHER

79



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BEFREE (25 BRAR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - HERERRS

To effectively manage the social and environmental risks arising
from the course of business operations, the Group has set up
a mechanism for each business unit to report regularly to the
headquarters on public welfare and environmental protection issues,
and has incorporated such risks into the corporate risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. In terms of staffing, a
function in corporate social responsibility is in place to assist the
Board and the management in the identification, assessment,
prioritisation, effective control and on-going monitoring of social and
environmental risks, and the writing of annual Environmental, Social
and Governance Report for the corporation.

This report is the ninth corporate social responsibility report published
by the Group since 2012. The Group adopts balanced, objective,
consistent, prioritised and quantifiable reporting standards when
making disclosures on the work of the Group in public welfare
activities, employment relationship and environmental protection.
This report documents the Group’s performance of its principal
businesses (television broadcasting, internet media and outdoor
media business) in undertaking corporate social responsibilities and
environmental protection in 2020, and represents an opportunity
for the Group to communicate with its Shareholders concerning its
philosophy, practices and achievements on environment, society and
governance.
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Community, Charity and Sustainable Development

In the areas of community involvement and charity, the Group makes
active efforts to understand and cater to the needs of the community,
and focuses on alleviating poverty, helping underprivileged children in
China, raising concerns about social phenomenon, and environmental
protection. It promotes charity out of corporate social responsibilities
by capitalising on its advantages as a media company and its brand
influence. Through its omni-media platform, the Group produces and
broadcasts objective, just and credible programmes on public welfare,
environmental protection and social phenomena, and reports on
public welfare activities in order to promote the spirit of public good
and reveal social phenomena. It also makes substantial contributions
to the society by organising and participating in various public welfare
activities.

Since the COVID-19 epidemic outbreak, Phoenix reporters from
different locations in China covered the full stories of people all over
the country vigorously fighting the epidemic and achieving positive
results. While the most difficult period in fighting against the epidemic
has now ended in China, the epidemic has not yet been controlled
at the global level. In 2020, collaborating with reporters stationed
around the world, including the United States, the United Kingdom,
Italy, Russia, Iran, Australia, South Korea and Japan, Phoenix has put
in enormous resources on reporting news about battles against the
COVID-19 epidemic in different countries. With constant focus on the
epidemic, Phoenix has been reporting the latest updates and making
its best efforts to show the world that: we are covering stories at the
place where they happen, and we do not give up easily!
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Special Programmes on Combating the Epidemic

With a will to assume the social responsibility of a media company
and accordingly exert its influence, Phoenix has produced a number
of special programmes during the epidemic focusing on combating
the epidemic including Combating COVID-19 ((#1 2 1t 4 ), Under
the Same Roof — Global Anti-epidemic Cooperation ({/&@ A EIX: £
BRECR#ETTRE)), We Are in the Same Boat — Observations on Global
Battles Against the Epidemic ((BF/AAF — 2EKEL & JBIER)), We Are
in the Same Boat — Spotlight on Global Epidemic KEFRFF - &k
BIEEE)) We Are in the Same Boat — Rapid Global Development of
Vaccines ((EF[AIAF — 2IZEHFEER)), Letters from Wuhan (&
ER1Z)), Letters from Compatriots (([EIfE215)), Face Mask Global
Shortage: Supply and Demand Analysis ((—Za 3 — £E O E HF
SHEHT)), Life on the Cloud: Digital Application during the Epidemic
(FEZEmaI AT RISHRIEFIE£7ZEEE)), and Spare Me Some
Love — Psychological Crisis and Intervention during the COVID-19
Epidemic ((1E8H —BE - Ry 2E A F78)). In addition
to providing Chinese around the world with first-hand information
to fight the epidemic such as accurate analysis of epidemic trends
and the latest responsive measures, Phoenix also anatomised the
economic, social, cultural and international relation issues under the
epidemic from multi-dimensional perspectives.
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Public Welfare Events on Combating COVID-19

In March 2020, Phoenix TV, The Shenzhen Mammoth Foundation
and BGI Genomics Co., Ltd. jointly launched a public welfare event
to combat the COVID-19 epidemic worldwide. For the purpose of
actively participating in the international cooperation to prevent and
combat COVID-19 epidemic, the three parties together launched
the donation for the Huo-Yan Laboratory and a global donation of
CQOVID-19 nucleic acid testing kits. These COVID-19 nucleic acid
testing kits donated were developed by Shenzhen BGI, and have
been widely used on the frontline to combat against the epidemic
in China. As a world-class Chinese media platform and to share
the responsibilities in fighting the epidemic, Phoenix TV has
vigorously provided a bridge for the cooperation between domestic
organisations and international society, through multiple international
media channels and collaborations with international organisations,
government authorities, overseas media, international chambers of
commerce and think tanks.

R - 4 ERERHE

MEMERS AT

202093 A - REFSR - [RIMEBA=®
Ao IRYFEAZRARNBERAF ] B
BRERHNBNTRERBARTE B
ER2EIEREERAE - =0 5IEE
[NRERZE]BE  ULFERSZER
AHB 2 2B AETE » ANRIBREEHT
RS ZERRHE 28 R ERER
2 BZARTERBRESE 4% - BES
BIERIEFRREZREB TS ZREEHE
BRI - BUTERPT - BSNMRRE - BIFREE -
BEEER  ERZEEREETER B
EREAREEEREENAERR - /it
MRIEREEE -

83



84

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BEFREE (125 BRAR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRIE - HERERRE

Strategic Cooperation on International Social Welfare with the
UNESCO

Leveraging its advantage as a media company, Phoenix TV has also
entered into strategic cooperation with a number of subordinate
organisations under the United Nations, through which platforms are
established jointly to facilitate the promotion and implementation of
the Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations in China,
and to provide assistance to Chinese enterprises for their sustainable
development and overseas expansion.

In respect of the strategic cooperation between Phoenix TV and
the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
("UNESCO"), after the successful implementation of the five
year strategic cooperation agreement for 2012-2017, Phoenix TV
and UNESCO entered into a new five-year strategic cooperation
agreement in September 2019, during the term of which Phoenix
TV would donate US$1.5 million to UNESCO for relevant cultural
projects. The donations amounted to US$0.5 million in 2019 and
US$0.25 million (approximately HK$1.94 million) in 2020. Pursuant to
the agreement, both parties will continue to cooperate extensively
and intensively in areas such as promoting cultural heritage protection
for countries along the Belt and Road and facilitating human cultural
diversity.

In addition, Phoenix TV also cooperated with UNESCO in respect of
creative city networks and the formulation of related policies and
measures to promote multicultural expression. In June 2020, Phoenix
TV donated US$0.1 million (approximately HK$0.78 million) to
UNESCO for the project Jingdezhen Forum — Building a Culture-based
Sustainable City to support such activities.
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On 6 July 2020, the first live streaming in China as well as the first
offline conversation of ResiliArt in the world, jointly organised by the
UNESCQO's Representative Office in the PRC and Phoenix TV, was
held at the Phoenix Center in Beijing. Literary and art practitioners
in China from various fields including culture, film and television,
music and performing arts were invited to the event to reveal the
current situation of cultural and creative industry under the impact
of the COVID-19 epidemic, to discuss the methods and strategies
in resuming the undertakings of cultural and creative industry in the
post-epidemic period, to carry out in-depth discussion on how to
maintain artists’ resilience under the epidemic, as well as to explore
ways to establish a sustainable cultural ecosystem. In his speech, Mr
Ou Minxing, the UNESCQO's representative in the PRC, stated that the
outbreak of COVID-19 had heavily hit the global cultural and creative
industry. Nevertheless, professionals in the literary and artistic sector
had been taking initiatives to propose responsive measures, and
art still remained her resilience. In times of crisis, people need art
more than ever. Art and culture bring hope, happiness and spiritual
encouragement to people. That is the reason why UNESCO calls on
the artists around the world to join the ResiliArt campaign. Mr. LIU
Changle, J.P, Chairman of the Board and the then Chief Executive
Officer of Phoenix TV, said in his speech, “As a globally influential
Chinese-language media group, Phoenix TV always responds to every
challenge with an open and inclusive attitude. We are expecting a
rebirth after the epidemic with the spirit of cultural revival and artistic
expressions.”
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Phoenix TV works together with global strategic partners including
UNESCO, providing assistance to people around the world in the
fields of education, culture and art by leveraging the advantages of
the omni-media industry, supporting the global cultural and creative
industry to overcome difficulties, and facilitating the sustainable
development of cultural ecosystem in the post-epidemic period.

Strategic Cooperation with Chinese Red Cross Foundation

On 16 September 2020, Phoenix TV and Chinese Red Cross
Foundation held Strategic Cooperation Agreement Signing Ceremony
and the launching ceremony of Miss Chinese Charity Event 2020 at
the Phoenix Center in Beijing, signifying the beginning of the strategic
cooperation between the parties. As a beauty event for Chinese
females around the world, Miss Chinese Cosmos Pageant, hosted by
Phoenix TV, has always been emphasising the promotion of Chinese
culture and traditional virtues, with focus on the perfect combination
of both inner and outer beauty. The poverty alleviation through
consumption project Charity Kitchen is a key project of Chinese Red
Cross Foundation this year, which supports online sales of agricultural
products of poor counties across the country. It is an important
measure to achieve poverty alleviation and help revitalization in rural
areas. Through in-depth bundling of these two projects and taking
advantage of Phoenix TV's omni-media edge to support the Chinese
Red Cross Foundation’s Charity Kitchen project, the parties jointly
launched the charity activity “TV Media + Online Platform Interaction”
In the future, Phoenix TV and Chinese Red Cross Foundation will fully
integrate the advantages of their platforms, expertise and resources
to promote better fulfillment of social responsibilities and establish
good public welfare image.

BEERAES BB SRS 2B E
EBHET  ROREX2RBERES
HE - Xt - BMEEEATERARIBHE
B XREHAIERB AR - WHNR
REFRUEERRGOARFEER

BRI+ FES S | BEREE

2020F9 A 160 BEVEHRA [ A+
FHEL® | FitRE RS LRITEHEAES
AENE 12020 R 2 NEARIEE) | B ENE
o WA A HEEEER PR o [+
EMARKRAE | EARBERERNEIK
EFAMNEBRSE  —HARAPEYEAM
EFEENHRE  TERNEENIMEERNT
EEG M ARBEIHEKEEERS
FIHhRAL4+FESS WEHEER - B
FHERNGRERGR EHE  REREEN
mAENERE, - BY W ANIRE A E B o
BBEMEEBRENTE  FABEEGR
PHEEITHEIRA+TELS AL
BJIER  $FENITHEEREE+ 8%
FEWE ] MARITE) - K2k - BEAESR
[FRA+FES S RN EEEFTH
Fa - BEMEROED  HBFE FHET
HEET B RIFNABER -



Annual Report 2020

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT /

Involvement in Other Social Welfare Activities and Donations

In October 2020, Phoenix TV donated RMBO0.3 million (approximately
HK$0.34 million) to the Forbidden City Cultural Heritage Conservation
Foundation to support various cultural heritage conservation projects
and daily operations of the Foundation.

Since 2008, Phoenix TV and the National Centre for the Performing
Arts have been jointly organising the yearly Dragon and Phoenix
Bringing Auspiciousness — Spring Festival Music Gala for Chinese
around the World, showing to the world the beautiful vision of social
harmony of the Chinese people. Every year, the ticket revenue is
donated to the Phoenix Charity Caring Fund managed by the China
Charity Federation for charitable and welfare activities. In 2020, the
donated ticket revenue of the concert amounted to around RMBO0.25
million (approximately HK$0.3 million).

On 20 December 2020, the 15th Compassion Award Ceremony,
organised by the Compassion Award Committee and the Hong Kong
and Macao Taiwanese Charity Fund and co-organised and produced
by Phoenix TV, was held simultaneously and broadcasted via satellite
at the Company’s Hong Kong Tai Po headquarters (main venue) as
well as at Phoenix Center in Beijing and GTV in Taipei (sub-venues).
Chinese people and businessmen from Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Taiwan and Macau and around the world were gathered together to
make the charity dream come true. Through the Compassion Award
event, great benefactors and selfless devotees are discovered from
the society and recommended by institutional representatives each
year to participate in the selection process.
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In-house Large-scale Branded Charity Projects

Phoenix New Media, the business unit of the Group principally
engaged in internet media, also implements the Group's beliefs on
corporate social responsibilities. Through a series of charity projects,
it has unleashed the power of charitable acts and kept putting into
practice its beliefs on public welfare with the creation of a number of
branded charity projects including Forever Happiness, Benefiting the
Children and Activist League, etc.

Forever Happiness

Forever Happiness is a large-scale branded charity event organised by
ifeng.com, the web portal of Phoenix New Media. It aims at uniting
Chinese all over the world for their attention to the survival, health,
education and future development of underprivileged children in
China, calling for contributions from all sectors of society, reinforcing
the idea of public welfare, and creating a better future for the children.
Since 2007 Forever Happiness has organised charity events for 14
consecutive years, and has held Charity Night for 10 consecutive
years. Footprints of Forever Happiness were left across 3 continents
in 8 cities. Through on-site and off-site auctions as well as specified
donations, funds are raised for charity projects for children. The ifeng
News App, as the designated mobile information platform for the
Charity Night, released updated information and special reports of all
aspects of the events at real-time. In addition, the events were also
broadcast live by Feng Live, an internet live broadcast platform of
ifeng.com. The 2020 Forever Happiness 14th Anniversary Ceremony
was held on 15 December in Beijing.
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Benefiting the Children Project

Benefiting the Children project, another branded charity project of
Phoenix New Media, is a charity project under the ifeng.com Special
Charity Fund which provides medical care and help to underprivileged
children in need in terms of medical aids, educational development,
mental health, and standards of living. The project aims at providing
necessary opportunities and conditions for children’s survival,
development, protection and growth with the best effort, satisfying
their development needs to the greatest extent, calling on all sectors
of society to make contributions to their growth, and striving to let
every child have equal growth opportunities. Benefiting the Children
project mainly carried out large-scale medical assistance projects for
underprivileged children focusing on the screening of critical illnesses,
through which it aims to gradually enhance the overall medical
service capability for children in impoverished regions in China, and to
improve the medical and sanitation conditions of these children.
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During the year, ifeng.com volunteer service team of the Benefiting
the Children project, together with its charity partner Aramco Asia
and various hospitals in Beijing, jointly carried out a charity walk
event in October in Zhuozi County of Inner Mongolia and Changshun
County of Guizhou Miao Autonomous Prefecture, providing medical
assistance to a total of 675 underprivileged children in the region.
These included disease screening, setting up of medical records
for children, and providing lectures which popularize basic medical
knowledge. All sectors of the society were called on to give their
concern for the health of distressed children. In this event, Benefiting
the Children project also donated a variety of essentials to the local
schools, including computers, printers and basic medical supplies.
In addition, donation portals have also been set up on the ifeng.com
webpage and in the ifeng News App.

The Activist League

The Activist League launched by ifeng.com in 2016, aims at
establishing a charity event platform for the mutual aid and
cooperation among charitable organisations, creative industries,
celebrities and caring companies, and through the platform providing
extra media resources and corporate support to the charitable parties.
Meanwhile, the platform also gathers and selects from all sectors
of the society innovative charity projects which are suitable for
dissemination through new media, covering a multiple of areas such
as caring for autistic children, environmental protection and animal
protection, etc. In the past 5 years, Activist League has launched a
series of solutions focusing on wildlife protection and child safety
issues, such as the Tape Pledge and Brave Babe, which not only won
awards both at home and abroad, facilitated the spread of the social
design concept in China, but also earned high recognition from the
United Nations through promoting the practice of the United Nations’
Sustainable Development Goals in China and around the world. Girls
Protection, an important project of the Activist League, has brought
children sexual abuse prevention and puberty health education
courses to 31 provinces of the country, covering nearly 3 million
children and over 0.5 million parents.
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On 1 December 2020, the 2020 Activist League Charity Grand
Ceremony, comprising a summit and an award presentation
ceremony, was hosted by ifeng.com in Beijing. At the ceremony,
six prizes were presented to recognise the individuals and events
that contributed to the advancement of society and development
of social charitable undertakings over the past year. These included
Top Ten People of the Year for Charity, Top Ten Charity Projects of the
Year, Top Ten Innovative Charity Ideas of the Year, Top Ten Companies
of the Year for Charity, the Most Popular on Internet Award and the
Special Contribution Award. The 2020 Charity Influence Index of the
Celebrities was also announced. A special Fight the Epidemic Award
for the Year was also set up by the Committee to honour individuals,
organisations and enterprises which had made outstanding
contributions during the COVID-19 epidemic outbreak. Feng Live,
a platform operated by ifeng.com, provided a live broadcast of the
ceremony, attracting an online audience of 9 million people.
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Donation in Support of Epidemic Prevention and Control, Youth
Entrepreneurship and Employment

In January 2020, Phoenix New Media donated RMB1 million
(approximately HK$1.12 million) to China Charity Federation for public
prevention and treatment of the COVID-19 epidemic.

In October 2020, Phoenix New Media donated RMB1 million
(approximately HK$1.16 million) to China Foundation for Youth
Entrepreneurship and Employment. The donation was included in
the Foundation's Special Fund for Creative Industries, which is used
in identifying and nurturing talents for the automobile and creative
branding industries, to enhance the entrepreneurial and employment
abilities of youths, particularly university students, and to deliver
young talents for the innovative development of the automobile
industry in the future. The fund donated by Phoenix New Media
will be used in implementing the Youth of Automobile Circle plan
and other charity projects to support mainly the following activities:
establishment of innovative laboratories in universities; support of
internship, employment or firm visits to automobile enterprises
for outstanding students; dissemination and exchange of green
development ideas; and establishment of youth employment bases in
automobile enterprises, etc.

Charity Channel of ifeng.com

The charity channel (http://gongyi.ifeng.com) on the Group’s internet
portal ifeng.com is an online charity platform for the continuous
broadcasting of public welfare information. It features news on major
charity events, interpretation of public welfare policies in the form of
salons and forums, as well as organisation and promotion of charity
events.

Employment and Labor Practices

In terms of employment and labor practices, the Group adopts a
people-oriented strategy where it attracts and retains talents by
offering reasonable employment terms, a safe and healthy work
environment, a wide range of employee benefits and trainings for
staff development while maintaining strict compliance with the labor
practices.

R - 4 ERERHE

BIAHRHIRIE - FFAIFEME

2020F 1 F BEFEER [ hEREL
@] BRI0BTARE (BB 1128
TT)  FARAKBHERSEEBNE °

2020108 + BEFKER [T EEFA
E¥nEESE]BE10E8TARE (1975
1168 L) WA [PRESFAEREER
CERIBELEZSEES] AREER B8
FEITENMBAIEITEANS @ BABFL
HERRAREBEMBIERERED  AREA
BIXEZAFEREATFEAL - BEAN
HEFBENESKHARER [EBSF
AEREMAKER  ERTENEEE
BRANEREER  IFEFSLED
HERFTELEDEEEE  HORER
SEBR EAECERY T TRES

o

=7

RS mIEE

AN - TEEA] AR T TERMATE
78 | (http://gongyi.ifeng.com) * 1E &M A
@ FE - BEGEASEN  MEEARH
EH LR - wmESEABRELRBCR
WER - HESEADEE o

BBl s THER

ARBEBTIERIE  AEBRIUART
RANBER - BRETHTER  WEBR
HEENEREN  Z2RENTERE -
ZIACH LR - AR5 B TR R M
A LABRSI R BB A -

93



94

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BEFREE (125 BRAR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -t ERERHE

Employment

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 2,840 full-time staff
members. The Group has strictly abided by the employment and labor
laws and regulations in the countries of operation. It also emphasises
equal opportunities and workplace diversity. The Group opposes
discrimination and undertakes that the employment, remuneration
and promotion of its employees are determined irrespective of
their political stance, gender, age, sexual orientation, marital status,
religion, race, nationality or other social factors.

The remuneration packages of the employees are determined with
reference to the business results of the Group and the performance
of individual employees and are in line with market rates. The Group
also provides various benefits to employees, such as medical and
other types of employee insurance coverage, a defined contribution
pension scheme and employee share option schemes to attract
and retain competent staff members. Details of the employee
remuneration, recruitment, termination of employment, working
hours and holidays are set out in the staff manual distributed to
employees.

Health and Safety

The Group has placed great emphasis on workplace safety so
as to prevent occupational hazards. Phoenix TV has established
a set of technical guidelines and codes on the safe operation of
machineries and electronic equipment for program production. Fire
suppression systems in compliance with the local requirements are
also installed in each of the office buildings of the Group. In addition
to providing a safe workplace and raising safety awareness, Phoenix
TV also maintains labor insurance and business travel insurance
for its employees, and promotes work-life balance. The Group's
headquarters in Hong Kong is equipped with comprehensive sports
and recreational facilities such as a basketball court, a tennis court, a
gymnasium, a table tennis room and a snooker room to encourage
staff members to exercise and engage a healthy life style. Health
talks are also provided to employees from time to time.

Development and Training

The Group offers occupational training to its employees to enhance
their knowledge and skills for performing job duties. Phoenix TV has in
place a Staff Training and Sponsorship Program to subsidise full-time
employees who attend courses, seminars and workshops that are
beneficial to their work performance or future career development.
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Labor Standards

The Group forbids employment of children or forced labor such as
compulsory labor or bonded labor.

Operating Practices

The Group is principally engaged in television broadcasting,
internet media and outdoor media business, hence corporate social
responsibilities in relation to supply chain management and physical
products are not relevant to the Group's core activities. Despite
this fact, the Group emphasises that it should not broadcast media
content that is detrimental to the community on its media platforms,
and should firmly uphold the code of conduct of the media industry
to safeguard the independence, diversity and morality of media
content, and also to protect intellectual property rights. The Group
has also set forth clear principles and guidelines on how to fulfill its
social responsibilities in relation to media content.

The Group is dedicated to its social responsibilities of anticorruption.
To achieve its goal, it has established and implemented the Phoenix
Corporate Governance Code and procedures to help its employees
to develop a clear understanding on the Company's code and
procedures in relation to contract execution, conflict of interests,
solicitation, acceptance or offer of advantages and entertainment,
dealing with confidential information and insider dealings. In addition,
the Group has also set up a formal communication channel through
which its employees may directly contact the independent internal
audit department of the Group in the event of concerns about
financial reporting, internal control, risk management and other
matters, or in the case of employee misconduct that may harm the
interests of the Group (such as offering and accepting bribes, conflict
of interests, insider dealings, blackmail, fraud, money laundering,
disclosure of confidential information and violation of professional
ethics).
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Environmental

In the area of environmental protection, the Group maintains
compliance with the environmental laws and regulations in the
countries of operation. Although the Group’s businesses are not
energy intensive or natural resources based, the management closely
monitors key environmental performance indicators, which include
those of energy consumption and waste air emission, so as to
continuously enhance its performance in environmental protection.

The management of the Company emphasises cultivation of
environmental awareness and has implemented a series of measures
at the Phoenix Center, the Group’s headquarters and program
production base in Hong Kong, to protect the environment, increase
efficiency in energy use and reduce indirect greenhouse gas
emissions. Such measures include maintaining large areas of outdoor
green space, reengineering of air conditioning and lighting systems
for higher energy efficiency, waste separation for recycling incentives,
and the provision of charging devices for electric vehicles in the car
park to support low-carbon emission. Regarding water consumption,
the Group has no need to source water and continues to encourage
employees to be aware of the importance of water saving. In
addition, the Group also pays close attention to the consumption of
electricity, gas and water in the course of daily operations to ensure
it is at a reasonable and environmentally friendly level, thereby
minimising energy waste.
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Details of energy consumption and carbon dioxide emission at  EBZIDEEA O EEREFRE RIRPEREIR
the Phoenix Center, the Group's headquarters in Hong Kong, are & :
disclosed as below:

Electricity consumption and the resulting carbon dioxide emissions:
B {5 A R ABFE RO HERA -

kWh (' 000)_ Tonne ' Carbon dioxide emission arising from electricity consumption
TR (000) B H A BT EHN = SRR E
12,000 6,000
10,000 5,000
8,000 4,000
6,000 3,000
4,000 2,000
2,000 1,000
B 2017 2018 2019 2020 ) 2017 2018 2019 2020

Gas consumption and the resulting carbon dioxide emission:

BESRE R AR R B BRHE A -

Megajoule Tonne  Carbon dioxide emission arising from gas consumption
1,100,000 70
1,000,000 60

900,000 50

800,000 40

700,000 30

600,000 20

500,000 10

400,000 -
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Water consumption:

KAE :
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In addition, Phoenix Metropolis Media, a subsidiary of the Group
engaged in the outdoor large LED screen advertising business, has
implemented the following environmental protection measures: In
order to reduce light pollution from screens, large screens installed
by Phoenix Metropolis Media are all equipped with an outdoor light
assessment system, so screen brightness can be automatically
adjusted to accommodate the surrounding environment. Phoenix
Metropolis Media also introduces new LED screens that adopt a
color depth of 16 bit, thereby producing softer colors and helping
to alleviate discomfort from bright lights. For the purpose of saving
energy, Phoenix Metropolis Media uses large screens with energy-
saving LED light tubes which automatically adjust brightness when in
use, cutting electricity consumption for normal use to approximately
40% of the designed peak consumption level, thereby saving energy.
Apart from that, it uses axial fans instead of air conditioning for
ventilation, which further reduces energy consumption while ensuring
the normal operation of screens. In terms of the recycling and
reuse of dismantled screens, Phoenix Metropolis Media cleans and
modifies components that are still useful and reuses them as spare
parts for newly built or modified screens or for repairing screens.

Compliance Status

The management confirms to the Board that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems on environmental, social
and governance issues are effective, and the Group has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange for the financial year
of 2020, and in 2020, there were no major environmental, social and
governance risks across the Group.

Looking Ahead

The Group will continue to fulfill its beliefs on corporate social
responsibilities while pursuing higher business performance and
value maximisation for the Shareholders. Capitalising on its media
advantages, the Group will strive to exert its influence as a role
model in society, better undertake its obligations on public welfare
and environmental protection, and create excellent media credibility
through its care for humanity and sense of social responsibilities.
This report was prepared in strict compliance with the disclosure
requirements under Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide of the Main Board Listing Rules of the
Stock Exchange. Any feedback regarding this report is welcome and
could be sent to csr@phoenixtv.com.
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The board of directors (the “Board” or “Director(s)"”) of Phoenix
Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or
“Phoenix") for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Business Review

A review of the Group's business is set out on pages 8 to 11 of this
report entitled “Business Overview and Prospects” (the “Business
Overview"”). The Board is satisfied that the Business Overview
together with the financial and non-financial information contained
in this section is a fair description of the Group’'s business and
the external environment in which the Group operates, consistent
with the scope of the consolidated financial statements and
dealing evenhandedly with both the favorable and adverse factors.
To summarise 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has brought about
unprecedented challenges and turmoil to the global economy.
Phoenix continued to leverage its brand influence and professionalism
to actively build an internationally leading high-tech omni-media group
focused on content production and driven by cross-sector integration.
During the year, the Group continued to deepen its business
transformation and industry trends innovation by taking multiple
measures to cope with the impact of the pandemic, and achieved
a substantial improvement in its operating performance. Mr. LIU
Changle, the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), emphasises
that the international influence and credibility of Phoenix must be
maintained and strategic innovations should be continuously pushed
forward.

In terms of core TV broadcasting, internet media and outdoor media
business, the Group continued its omni-media transformation of
“internet + Phoenix” to achieve the restructuring of production,
transmission and marketing entities. The Group also actively
promoted its capability of the synergistic operation of multiple
media platforms including television broadcasting, internet, outdoor
large LED screens and weekly magazines. Through the provision of
integrated media services to the end customers, Phoenix aims at
reshaping the value of media communication, which was the Group's
strategy of “focus on contents and services” During the strategic
upgrade, Phoenix has promoted the platform operation system of
programmes, focused on content innovation and channel expansion,
and emphasised mobile traffic monetisation and brand monetisation.

Moreover, Phoenix New Media Limited (“"PNM"), a subsidiary of the
Company, completed the disposal of Yidian Zixun during the year,
from which PNM received proceeds of US$350 million. PNM has
also paid special dividends to its shareholders twice in December
2019 and December 2020, respectively. Phoenix, the parent
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company of PNM, has thus received an aggregate special dividend of
approximately US$109 million (equivalent to approximately HK$850
million), which has contributed a considerable investment income to
the Group and facilitated the Group's strategic upgrade in the future.

On the basis of continuing to adhere to and maintain the position
of being a leading provider of Chinese-language media content, and
based on the Phoenix brand and high-end media content, the Group
has leveraged leading-edge digital technologies and continuously
incubated and invested in projects with value and sustainable
business models. The relevant diversification of the Group has
included digital technology, cultural creativity, animated comics,
games, cloud technology services, education, exhibitions and other
fields. In the process of the Group's innovative development in
the future, Phoenix will, as always, leverage its core advantages in
brand and contents while firmly adhering to professional journalism.
By building an internationally recognised omni-media group with
credibility, influence and communication strength, we look forward to
meeting the expectation of everyone and maximising the value of the
Group.

The “Comments on Segmental Information” set out on pages 40 to
41 and “Liquidity and Financial Resources” set out on pages 43 to 44
of this report provide analysis of the amounts of revenue, the results
of business segments and gearing ratio of the Group. The operating
loss of the Group, based on the loss from operations to revenue, was
16.6% as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31 December 2019: 19.7%).
The current ratio of the Group, based on current assets to current
liabilities, was 2.2 as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31 December 2019:
2.6). The Group's loss before interest expenses, taxes, depreciation,
and amortisation (LBITDA) was HK$1,161,219,000 as at 31 December
2020 (as at 31 December 2019: EBITDA HK$1,346,441,000). Please
refer to the consolidated income statement and Note 7 to the
financial statements for the underlying data for calculation of the
LBITDA.

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") regulatory restrictions on
the reception and rebroadcasting of foreign satellite television
programs and PRC regulatory controls on foreign media content and
transmission modes. The Group has implemented measures such as
enhancing content diversification and developing new transmission
channels to mitigate the aforesaid risks as risk responses. In
addition, on a technical level, for the risk management of safe
broadcast, Phoenix is equipped with a reliable generator set and an
uninterruptible power supply system to ensure stable power supply
during program production and broadcast as well as power supply
for server units. The proper function of the news system and storage
system are also closely monitored for 24 hours a day.
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Furthermore, there is another principal risk that if PRC regulatory
authorities implement prohibition against the variable interest
entity (the “VIE") structure in Mainland China, the internet media,
education, animated comics, games and cloud technology services
operated by the Group through the VIE structure in China will be
affected. Please refer to pages 140 to 143 of this report for the
description of the major risks associated with the VIE contractual
arrangements within the Group.

The Group's business performance and business risks arising from
the challenges of internet and media evolution are discussed in the
section of “Business Overview” of this report. Besides, the Group's
day-to-day activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, remittance risk, interest
rate risk, pricing risk, significant fluctuation in fair values, etc.), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group's financial risk management and
controls are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 205 to 223 of this report. The above is not intended to be an
exhaustive list of all principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group.
The risk profile may change over time as new risks and uncertainties
emerge and others cease to be of concern.

The Board closely monitors the above risks and uncertainties in view
of the fact that any adverse change of these risks and uncertainties
would have a material negative effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition and the results of operations. Discussion of
the Group's systems of risk management and internal control is
presented in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 69 to 74
of this report.

The Group regards employees as valuable assets. In addition to
complying with all relevant labor laws and regulations and having a
reasonable remuneration system, the Group also adopted measures,
including providing other employee benefits and employee training,
to attract and retain talents. Details of the relationship between
the Group and employees are set out on pages 93 to 94 in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this report.

Advertisers and advertising agencies (the “Advertisers”), Phoenix
viewers, Phoenix Weekly readers, as well as website and mobile
App users (collectively referred to as the “Audience Groups") are
all major customers of the Group. Phoenix's programmes have been
favored by corporate executives and business elites for many years.
The quality content and immense Audience Groups of the Group's
television programmes, weekly magazines, websites and App provide
Advertisers with effective publicity and promotion platforms. The
Group maintains a good and solid business relationship with most
Advertisers, and the advertising sales team of the Group is committed
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to exploring new customers in order to maintain stable advertising
revenue for the Group. In addition, the Group has set up a hotline and
instant messaging service for enquiries as well as a message box on
its website to allow Audience Groups to give feedback on the quality
and content of various media platforms, and would follow up on a
case-by-case basis.

The Group has established long-term, good and stable business
relationships with suppliers. Particulars of the major suppliers and
advertising end-customers of the Group are set out on page 132 of
this report.

Regarding corporate social responsibilities, in terms of environmental
protection, the Group maintains compliance with the environmental
laws and regulations in the countries of operation. Although the
Group’s businesses are not energy intensive or natural resources
based, the management closely monitors key environmental
performance indicators, which include those of energy consumption
and exhaust emission, so as to continuously enhance its performance
in environmental protection. Detailed discussions on the Group's
environmental policies, performance and KPIs are contained in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 96 to 98 of
this report.

In addition to the compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange") and the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
committed to duly observing the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571) and the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-
backs published by the Securities and Futures Commission. The
Group has complied with the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the
Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) and the
related subsidiary legislation. The Group has also observed the terms
of the Non-Domestic Television Programme Service Licence granted
to Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited and the relevant
sections of the Codes of Practice from time to time issued by the
Communication Authority. Since the enactment of the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Group was mindful not to contravene the
first conduct rule of the Competition Ordinance while continuously
assessing its market power under the second conduct rule of the
Competition Ordinance.

Particulars of important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year are set out in the
paragraph entitled “Other Important Events and Subsequent Events”
on pages 47 to 49 of this report and on Note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Intellectual Property

The Group recognises intellectual property is a valuable asset and
the importance of management and protection of the intellectual
property. In this regard, the Group pursues available protection of the
intellectual property and vigorously protects the intellectual property
against any third party infringement.

The Group adopts different trademarks to represent the whole group
and its different business lines. The Group applies for trademark
registrations in different countries actively in order to prevent any
third party from using similar trademarks and riding on the back of its
business. The Group has more than 900 trademark registrations in
total in different countries and regions including Australia, Canada, EU,
Hong Kong, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, Philippines,
Mainland China, Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand and the
U.S. As Mainland China is the main business market of the Group,
over 780 trademark registrations are obtained in Mainland China. The
signature brand name " [Bl/EI#E4R " and the double phoenixes logo are
the most important corporate trademarks of the Group.

Trademarks of the respective television channels of the Group
such as Phoenix InfoNews Channel, Phoenix Movies Channel and
Phoenix North America Chinese Channel are registered in those
respective main countries that the channels are broadcasted.
Trademarks of the core businesses in the Group, such as the ifeng
website, mobile application Fengshows, Phoenix Metropolis Media,
Phoenix Publication, Phoenix Entertainment, Phoenix Cloud and
Phoenix Exhibitions are mainly registered in Mainland China and/or
Hong Kong. Miss Chinese Cosmos Pageant is one of the important
events of Phoenix. under normal circumstances, the pageant is
broadcasted in a number of countries every year. The name and logo
of the pageant are registered in those countries where contestant
selections are held or intended to be held.

The Group has copyright protection in its television programs,
websites, mobile apps, magazines, softwares and other original
works. Besides, the Group has more than 260 copyright registrations
in relation to softwares for computers, mobiles and websites in
Mainland China. The Group also owns patents for invention applying
to websites and mobiles in Mainland China.

Apart from applying for registrations of the different types of
the intellectual property, the Group has a Brand Management &
Development Department specialising in trademark management
of the Group. The Group has issued internal policy about trademark
use, application and licensing for the staff to comply with. The Group
further maintains a database for its trademarks, designs, patents and
copyrights.
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Trademark applications which have been published for opposition are
checked by the Group regularly. Once the Group discovers any third
party’s trademark which is confusingly similar to any trademark of
the Group, the Group would file opposition proceedings against such
trademark application. The Group also checks different social media
platforms (such as Twitter, Facebook, YouTube, Instagram, WeChat
and Weibo) regularly to locate any unauthorised use of the television
programs or trademark etc. of the Group by the platform users, and
would take immediate action against any third party infringement by
lodging complaint to the relevant social platform asking for removing
the infringement contents, sending “cease and desist” letters to the
infringement party, lodging complaint to the relevant government
authority or bringing civil suit against the infringing party whenever
appropriate.

Principal Activity and Geographical Analysis of
Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reportable

segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 155.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the year.
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Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
1 June 2021 to Friday, 4 June 2021, (both dates inclusive), during
which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting
(the “AGM"), all share transfers must be lodged with the Company'’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 31
May 2021.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Movements in
the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in Note 44
to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$5,974,000 (2019: HK$6,505,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Investment Properties

Details of the movement in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Share Capital and Share Options

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 29 and Note 30,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) and there
was no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2020,
calculated under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$941,267,000 (2019:
HK$943,797000 ).

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 344.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities

The Company had not redeemed any Shares. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Shares
during the year.

Equity-linked Agreements

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
of the Group are set out in Note 30 of the consolidated financial
statements and the section entitled “Share Option Schemes”
contained in this “Report of Directors”
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Share Option Schemes

(A)

Share Option Schemes of the Company

(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme

On 7 February 2017, the Shareholders approved and
adopted the 2017 Share Option Scheme (the “2017 Share
Option Scheme") and the cancellation of the outstanding
share options (the “Existing Options"”) granted to
directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for a
total of 95,894,000 Shares under the 2009 Share Option
Scheme (expired on 21 June 2019) which have not been
exercised or lapsed, subject to the Existing Options
being surrendered and cancelled. The 2017 Share Option
Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee.

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group and any invested entity of the Group.

The participants of the scheme

Any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
invested entities in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest; or any non-executive Director
(including independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or invested entities; or
any other person (including any employee or director of
any business counterparty) whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
Group.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of the Shares in respect of which
options are issuable under the scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company is 500,099,950
Shares, representing 10.01% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the scheme

No eligible participant shall be granted an option if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to such eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
exceeding 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Any further grant of options to an eligible participant which
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
eligible participant under the 2017 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the Shares in issue shall be subject to the Shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such eligible participant
and his close associates (or his associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the information required under the Listing
Rules. The number of Shares subject to the options to be
granted and the terms of the options to be granted to such
eligible participants shall be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval and the date of the Board meeting for proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for
the purpose of calculating the subscription price.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)  Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Time of exercise of option

An option is exercisable as set out in the offer of the
option, which shall, at the discretion of the Directors,
commence at any time on or after the offer date and
expire no later than the tenth (10th) anniversary of such
offer date.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Upon acceptance of the option, the option holder shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration of the grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price in respect of any option under
the 2017 Share Option Scheme shall be such price as
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of the grant of the relevant option but in any case
shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day; (b)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five (b) business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)

Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme

2017 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of ten (10) years commencing on the date of the
adoption of the scheme. Upon termination, no further
options may be granted under the scheme. The details of
share options granted by the Company under the 2017
Share Option Scheme to the Directors and employees of

the Group to acquire the Shares were as follows:
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A
3 Executive Directors
3LHTES
LIU Changle 201703.21 20170321- 2018.0321- 141 4,900,000 - - - - 4,900,000
ARg 20180320 20270320
CHUIKeung 201703.21 20170321~ 2018.0321- 141 3,900,000 - - - - 3,900,000
ER 2018.03.20 202703.20
WANG Ji¥an 201703.21 20170321- 2018.0321- 141 3,900,000 - - - - 3,900,000
18z 2018.03.20 202703.20
LIU Diandian® 201703.21 20170321- 2018.03.21- 141 120,000 - - - - 120,000
L 2018.03.20 202703.20
371 employees 201703.21 201703.21- 2018.03.21- 141 72,054,000 - (6,272,000 - - 65,782,000
3 AEE 2018.03.20 202703.20
Total:
s 84,874,000 - (6,272,000 - - 78,602,000

# LIU Diandian is a daughter of LIU Changle.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(A)  Share Option Schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

During the year, 6,272,000 share options granted to
20 employees were lapsed when they ceased their
employment with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no share option had been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the year.
No option was granted to the Directors, chief executives
or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their
respective associates, or to the suppliers of goods or
services under the 2017 Share Option Scheme. No
participant was granted any option in excess of the
individual limit as set out under the 2017 Share Option
Scheme.

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme

On 20 June 2008, the Shareholders approved the share
option scheme of PNM (the “PNM Share Option
Scheme”).

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme

Purpose of the scheme

The purposes of the PNM Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or potential contribution of the
executives, employees, directors, consultants, advisers,
agents, business partners, joint venture partners, service
providers and contractors of PNM and/or its affiliates by
granting options to them as incentives or rewards.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The participants of the scheme

Subject to the terms of the PNM Share Option Scheme
and the Listing Rules and for so long as PNM remains a
subsidiary of the Company, the board of directors of PNM
(the “PNIM Board") may, at its absolute discretion (subject
to any terms and conditions as it may think fit) during
the scheme period, make offers to any eligible persons
to take up options. The eligibility of the eligible persons
is determined by the PNM Board with reference to their
past and expected commitment and contribution to PNM
and/or its affiliates.

The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of shares of PNM (the “PNM Shares”)
available for issue under options which may be granted
under the PNM Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of PNM shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of 320,000,000 of PNM Shares in issue on 20 June
2008, being the effective date of PNM Share Option
Scheme.

On 8 June 2012, the Shareholders approved to refresh
and renew the scheme mandate limit of the PNM Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
PNM to enable grant of further options to subscribe for up
to 31,410,107 Class A ordinary PNM Shares, representing
10% of Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue on 8 June
2012.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of securities available for issue
(Continued)

On 5 June 2014, the Shareholders passed the
refreshment of scheme mandate limit under the PNM
Share Option Scheme. Based on 284,014,925 Class A
ordinary PNM Shares in issue, the scheme mandate limit
has been “refreshed” to enable grant of further options
to subscribe for up to 28,401,492 Class A ordinary PNM
Shares, representing 10% of the Class A ordinary PNM
Shares in issue as at the date of the extraordinary general
meeting (the "EGM").

On 20 October 2016, the Shareholders approved the
refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
PNM Share Option Scheme. Based on 256,335,266
Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue, PNM may grant
further options to subscribe for up to 25,633,526 Class A
ordinary PNM Shares, representing 10% of the Class A
ordinary PNM Shares in issue on 20 October 2016, being
the date of the EGM at which the Shareholders approved
the above refreshment of mandate limit and the grant of
replacement options as set out in the Company's circular
dated 23 September 2016 (see also “Grant of replacement
options” below).
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of
PNM (the “PNM Shareholders”) in the manner set out in
the PNM Share Option Scheme, the total number of PNM
Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to any eligible person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the offer date shall
not exceed 1% of the PNM Shares in issue as at the offer
date.

Time of exercise of option

Pursuant to the PNM Share Option Scheme, options may
be exercised with its terms at any time during a period
as notified by the PNM Board to each eligible person in
the offer, provided that such period shall not be longer
than ten (10) years from the date of offer. The PNM Board
may also impose restrictions on the exercise of an option
during the period an option may be exercised.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Pursuant to the PNM Share Options Scheme, HK$1.00
(or foreign currency equivalent) is payable to PNM by the
eligible persons by 5:00 p.m. on the date specified in the
offer letter as the latest date for acceptance.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The basis of determining the exercise price

The option price shall be determined by the PNM Board
on a fair and reasonable basis, taking into consideration
the prevailing market condition, performance of PNM and
after having assessed the efforts, performance and/or
future potential contribution of the eligible person to the
success of the business and operations of PNM (and its
affiliates from time to time), which shall be no less than
the nominal value of the PNM Shares on the date of offer.

The remaining life of the scheme

The PNM Share Option Scheme will remain valid for
a period of ten (10) years commencing on 20 June
2008 save that PNM, by an ordinary resolution of
PNM Shareholders and an ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders (for so long as PNM remains a subsidiary
of the Company) in general meetings may at any time
terminate the operation of the PNM Share Option
Scheme.

Grant of replacement options

At the EGM of the Company held on 20 October 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed grant of options
under the PNM Share Option Scheme to holders of
existing options as replacement options beyond the
refreshed limit (i.e. 10% of PNM Shares in issue as at
the date of EGM on 20 October 2016). For details, please
refer to the Company’s circular dated 23 September 2016.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Grant of replacement options (Continued)

With the approvals of the PNM Board and PNM
Shareholders, an option exchange program was
implemented from 21 October 2016 to 1 November 2016
whereby the directors, employees and consultants of
PNM exchanged options to purchase 21,011,951 Class A
ordinary of PNM Shares granted under the PNM Share
Option Scheme with various exercise prices greater
than US$0.4823 per share (or US$3.8584 per American
Depositary Share) for new options granted under the
PNM Share Option Scheme with a new exercise price of
US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule that
generally adds 12 months to each original vesting date,
and the new options would vest no sooner than 1 May
2017

The remaining life of the PNM Share Option Scheme
after grant of replacement options

The PNM Share Option Scheme expired on 20 June 2018
and thus no further options will be granted thereunder, but
the provisions of the scheme in all other respects remain
in full force and effect, and the options granted during the
life of the PNM Share Option Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with the terms of issue thereof.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, 1,050,250 EZE2020F 12 A31ALLFE
options granted to 17 employees were lapsed and ¥ T17% 8 B # 1,050,250 &
cancelled. Details of the options granted under the PNM AR E R EE 8 - IRIRELE
Share Option Scheme to the employees of the Group are MRS ERE S M AEE R
as follows: BRHMEREFBOT
Number of share options
RREHE
Balance Balance
Type of Exercise asat Granted Lapsed Cancelled Exercised asat
remaining Date of price per 1 January during during during during 31 December
grantees grant Exercise period PNM Share 2020 the year the year the year the year 2020
Bk R2020E R2020E
HIERAN BEAER 1818 HER RER HER RER  12A31A
£l REAE TN RATEE o R XM i ] i ki
USs
T
Employees 20130315 2014.03.15-2023.03.14 0.445925 3,756,100 - - - - 3,756,100
| 2013.05.23  2014.05.23-2023.05.22 0.46565 2,900,000 - - - - 2,900,000
2013.10.01 2014.10.01-2023.09.30 0.78670 6,082 - - - - 6,082
2016.10.17 201710.17-2026.10.16 047340 3,910,223 - (190,000) - - 3720223
2016.10.21 201705.01-2020.0706 048230 12,452,825 - 450,000) - - 12,002,825
201709.14 2018.09.14-202709.13 041490 3,691,262 - (210,250) - - 3,381,002
201711.24 2018.11.24-202711.23 0.53440 398,000 . (100,000) - . 298,000
2018.01.03 2018.01.03-2028.01.02 048230 1,384,500 - - - - 1,384,500
2018.04.02  2019.04.02-2028.04.01 075130 100,000 - (100,000) - - -
Total:
EHE 28,498,982 - (1,050,250) - - 27448,732
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B)

Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(1)

(2)

PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted to the
Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders,
or their respective associates of the Company, or to the
suppliers of goods or services under the PNM Share
Option Scheme during the year.

2018 PNM Share Option Scheme

On 6 June 2018, the Shareholders approved the 2018
PNM Share Option Scheme (the “2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme”).

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or potential contribution of the
executives, employees, directors, consultants, advisers,
agents, business partners, joint venture partners, service
providers and contractors of PNM and/or its affiliates by
granting options to them as incentives or rewards.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(2)

2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The participants of the scheme

Subject to the terms of the 2018 PNM Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules and for so long as PNM
remains a subsidiary of the Company, the PNM Board
may, at its absolute discretion (subject to any terms and
conditions it may think fit) during the scheme period,
make offers to any eligible persons to take up options.
The eligibility of the eligible persons is determined by the
PNM Board with reference to their past and expected
commitment and contribution to PNM and/or its affiliates.

The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of PNM Shares available for issue under
options which may be granted under the 2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
PNM shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of 264,335,266
of PNM Shares in issue on 6 June 2018, being the
effective date of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme.
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Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders and PNM
Shareholders in the manner set out in the 2018 PNM
Share Option Scheme, the total number of PNM Shares
issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to any eligible person (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the offer date shall not exceed
1% of the PNM Shares in issue as at the offer date.

Time of exercise of option

Pursuant to the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme, options
may be exercised with its terms at any time during a
period as notified by the PNM Board to each eligible
person in the offer, provided that such period shall not be
longer than ten (10) years from the date of offer. The PNM
Board may also impose restrictions on the exercise of an
option during the period an option may be exercised.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Pursuant to the 2018 PNM Share Options Scheme,
HK$1.00 (or foreign currency equivalent) is payable to PNM
by the eligible persons by 5:00 p.m. on the date specified
in the offer letter as the latest date for acceptance.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(2)

2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The basis of determining the exercise price

The option price shall be determined by the PNM Board
on a fair and reasonable basis, taking into consideration
the prevailing market condition, performance of PNM and
after having assessed the efforts, performance and/or
future potential contribution of the eligible person to the
success of the business and operations of PNM (and its
affiliates from time to time), which shall be no less than
the nominal value of the PNM Shares on the date of offer.

The remaining life of the scheme

The 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme will remain
valid for a period of ten (10) years commencing on 6
June 2018 save that PNM, by an ordinary resolution of
PNM Shareholders and an ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders (for so long as PNM remains a subsidiary
of the Company) in general meetings may at any time
terminate the operation of the PNM Share Option
Scheme.

F4 2020

REPORT OF DIRECTORS %

EEEREE

RS ()

(B) A AIME R RIHERERT S

(#&)

(2)

2018 R BT B A B A i =T 2
(&)

2018 R BRI B R E A i =T 2
HEE (&)

EETRENEE

BREEEANEFKEBES
BRATREAE RRKERE
ERTRMEEFKENES
KA URFHEERALY
REBEFRE (RE A
BAR]) MERREENORIN
FTRASB N - fEHBRIR R,
AR BEBEBILEE - T
BEIRR 24 B HIRL R 3 A8 A
HEVEE °

st EIER TFH

2018 F Bl B\ ¥ 1 88 B AR i = 2
1 2018 6 A 6 HEET 1 (10)
FRN—EBR  HEEBEE
BERARTRRABREERE
RIREAE FBBYEAHRE
(RZEEFEEDARNARN
MEaa) - BB EFEE Ak
iR 1E B R FT i A i iR 1 2l -

121



122

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExagsE

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(2) 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no options
were exercised under the 2018 PNM Share Option
Scheme; 797,500 options granted to 17 employees were
lapsed and cancelled. Details of the options granted under
the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme to the employees of
the Group are as follows:
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

(2) 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted to the
Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders,
or their respective associates of the Company, or to the
suppliers of goods or services under the 2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme during the year.

Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

LIU Changle (alternate director to CHUI Keung)

CHUI Keung (alternate director to LIU Changle)

WANG JiYan (alternate director to LIU Changle and CHUI Keung)

Non-executive Directors:
GONG Jianzhong (Resigned on 27 March 2020)
JIAN Qin
ZHANG Dong
SUN Qiang Chang
HUANG Tao
(Appointed on 27 March 2020 and resigned on 19 March 2021)

WANG Haixia (Appointed on 19 March 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
LEUNG Hok Lim

Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK
FANG Fenglei
HE Di
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExagsE

Retiring Directors

Ms. WANG Haixia, Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, Mr. FANG Fenglei and Mr.
HE Di are nominated by the Nomination Committee of the Company
to stand for re-election at the 2021 AGM in accordance with Article
87(1) & (2) of the Articles of Association.

The nominations were made in accordance with the selection criteria
and objectives set out in the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity
Policy. With regard to the independence of Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim who
has served the Board as an independent non- executive Director
for more than nine years and has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the
Board, both the Nomination Committee and the Board are satisfied
with the valuable independent judgement, advice and objective
views given by Mr. LEUNG over the years. The Board is not aware of
any circumstance that might influence Mr. LEUNG's independence.
Mr. LEUNG, who is the chairman of the Nomination Committee,
abstained from voting at the committee meeting when his own
nomination was being considered.

Update on Directors’ Information Under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Change of Directors’ information which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below.

LIU Changle

Resignation

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
— Chief Executive Officer

HUANG Tao

Resignation

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

— Non-executive Director, member of Audit Committee and Risk
Management Committee

WANG Haixia

Appointment

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

— Non-executive Director, member of Audit Committee and Risk
Management Committee

Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK
Resignation
Singapore Exchange Limited — Independent non-executive director

FANG Fenglei
Global Logistic Properties Holdings Limited — Non-executive and
non-independent director, member of Investment Committee
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. LIU Changle, Mr. CHUI Keung and Mr. WANG Ji Yan, the
executive Directors, each entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 July 2021
subject to termination by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ written notice. None of the Directors proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has entered into any service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation.

The terms of office of each of the executive Directors (other than the
Chairman), non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Articles of Association and the Company’s own code on corporate
governance.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Permitted Indemnity Provision

As permitted by the Articles of Association, every Director is entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity does not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty by such Director. Such provision has been in force for the
benefit of the Directors throughout the year and up to the date of this
report.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover to
the Directors.
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExagsE

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which such Directors or chief
executive of the Company were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code") to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(1) Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company (excluding share options)
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Ordinary shares of the Company ZN/NSIE ST
Number of ordinary shares held
g EREE
Approximate
shareholding
percentage
as at
Personal/ Corporate Total 31 December
Name other interest interest interest Position 2020
72020 F
12A3182
BA B A
" HithfE = AR R HEE S Bot
LIU Changle (Note 2) 2,688,000 1,894,110,000 1,896,798,000 Long 37.99%
BIR%E (Wit2) A
Notes: M3E -
1. As at 31 December 2020, the number of the issued Shares was 1. 20205612 A31H » RARIE #

4,993,469,500.

2. As at 31 December 2020, Mr. LIU Changle was the beneficial
owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Today's Asia
Limited, which in turn had an interest in approximately 37.93% of
the issued share capital of the Company.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests in
Securities (Continued)

(2)

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of an
associated corporation of the Company
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PNM BB A
Number of class A ordinary of PNM Shares
RE#HFEAELERHE
Approximate
shareholding
percentage
as at
Personal/ Corporate Total 31 December
Name other interest interest interest Position 2020
#2020 F
12A31H
BA AR R
HE HitiEs AR B S ATk
LIU Changle (Note 3) - 1,483,200 1,483,200 Long 0.56%
BIREE (B3 3) A
Notes: Fi5E

1. As at 31 December 2020, the number of the issued Class A
ordinary PNM Shares was 265,935,266.

2. PNM is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

3. As at 31 December 2020, Mr. LIU Changle was the beneficial
owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Today's Asia
Limited, which in turn had an interest in approximately 0.56% of
the issued class A ordinary of PNM Shares.

1. R20204 12 A31 8 - BEHHED
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExagsE

Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests in
Securities (Continued)

(3) Share Options

BEFREE (125 BRAR

(3) FEAHE

Underlying
Shares
pursuant

to the share

Exercise options as at
price per 31 December
Name Date of grant Exercise period Share 2020
72020 F
12A31H
BERBREN
®E B BH TR BRITEE HER G
HK$
BT
3 Executive Directors
SEMITES
LIU Changle 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 4,900,000
B zgt 2018.03.21 £ 2027.03.20
CHUI Keung 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 3,900,000
E5R 2018.03.21 £ 2027.03.20
WANG JiYan 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 3,900,000
Fas 2018.03.21 £ 2027.03.20
LIU Diandian# 2017.03.21 2018.03.21 to 2027.03.20 1.41 120,000
2B 2018.03.21 & 202703.20

# LIU Diandian is a daughter of LIU Changle

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware,
as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the
Directors or the chief executive were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

# BRI RLE LR

br EXCETIRTRESN  BRESFA - R
202012 A31H » XRAFIEE L&
=ITIHA B R AR F s ] FE
EE (ABESHMEEEGIZE XV 50
THORZE) B - MR RERE
BHREAREES RBAEERAIEXY
HrE7TRESDEAMERNE R
B AT E AR SAR (BIERE
BERAEGRIBRAGEXESSIER
TTIRA B EESAR 1EE B AR ok
wE) ¢ IR ERE S K HIE G015 352
1B ARZ G ity & 5o i 5 3iR
B EMARAFORETFRAEANE AR
A BRIz SOR B o



Annual Report 2020

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Under the terms of the 2017 Share Option Scheme, the relevant
committee responsible to administer the share option scheme may,
at their discretion, invite any employee of the Company or any of
the Group companies, including any executive directors, to take up
options to subscribe for Shares. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the share option
scheme must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the time of approval of the scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, and other than those in connection with
the Group reorganisation scheme prior to the Company’s listing of
Shares, at no time during the year was the Company or any of the
companies comprising the Group a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company, the interest of the Shareholders
(not being Directors and the chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and required to be entered in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO or entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, were as follows:

(1) Long positions of substantial Shareholders in the Shares
of the Company
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A
=
Approximate

shareholding
percentage as

Number of  at 31 December

Name of substantial Shareholders Shares 2020
72020 &

1283182

TERRERE BRDEE BARET D
Today's Asia Limited (Note 2) SHEMBRAR (Hit2) 1,894,110,000 3793%
Extra Step Investments Limited (Note 3] Extra Step Investments Limited (#77£3) 983,000,000 19.69%
TPG China Media, L.P (Note 4) TPG China Media, L.P (#f5£4) 607000,000 12.16%
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExagsE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short

Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of

the Company (Continued)

(1) Long positions of substantial Shareholders in the Shares of the

Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. As at 31 December 2020, the number of issued Shares was

4,993,469,500.

2. Today's Asia Limited is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. LIU

Changle.

3. Extra Step Investments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited (“CMHKG") which in
turn is a subsidiary of China Mobile Communications Group Co.,
Ltd. (“"CMCC"). By virtue of the SFO, CMCC and CMHKG are
deemed to be interested in the 983,000,000 Shares held by Extra
Step Investments Limited. Mr. JIAN Qin and Mr. ZHANG Dong,
both non-executive Directors, are respectively the deputy general
manager of CMCC and the director and deputy general manager
of China Mobile Communication Company Limited, and general

manager of the market operation of CMCC.

4. TPG China Media, L.P is controlled by TPG Asia Advisors VI
DE, Inc., which in turn is ultimately controlled by Mr. David
BONDERMAN and Mr. James G. COULTER. By virtue of the
SFO, TPG Asia Advisors VI DE, Inc., Mr. David BONDERMAN
and Mr. James G. COULTER are all deemed to be interested in
the 607,000,000 Shares held by TPG China Media, L.P Mr. SUN
Qiang Chang, a non-executive Director, is the managing partner

for China at TPG.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company (Continued)

(2)

Long position of other person in the Shares of the
Company

Name of other person who
has more than 5% interest

m)
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Approximate

shareholding

percentage

as at

Number of 31 December
Shares 2020
742020 %

1283182

ROEBE HOAREEIL

BEERBS%ERN

Hih A+ 558

China Wise International Limited —ZEZEFFER AR A )
(Note 2) (Hii2)

Notes:

As at 31 December 2020, the number of issued Shares was
4,993,469,500.

China Wise International Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cultural Developments Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bank of China Group Investment Limited (“BOCGI").
BOCGI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of China Limited,
which in turn is a subsidiary of Central Huijin Investments
Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Central Huijin Investments Limited,
Bank of China Limited, BOCGI and Cultural Developments
Limited are all deemed to be interested in the 412,000,000
Shares held by China Wise International Limited. At the material
time, Mr. HUANG Tao, a then non-executive Director, was the
head of the consumer and financial institutions group investment
division of BOCGI and a director of a number of companies
controlled by BOCGI or in which BOCGI has an interest.

412,000,000 8.25%

M2020F 12 A31 8 + XAFE#
I & B 5 4,993,469,500 1% °

BB A R A A JhCultural
Developments Limited &) 2 & [ &
/2 &l + 10 Cultural Developments
Limited R IREEREHFR A A
(THERIRE ) WEEMBAT o A
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2EMBLAT - MABEBRITRGAE
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AWM B AR - RIBEHFRAEK
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FEIRITRDERAR - FIRIKE
J%2 Cultural Developments Limited
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, there was no person (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) known to the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company, who, as at 31
December 2020, had an interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and were required to be entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of programme purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and advertising end-
customers are as follows:
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2020 2019
2020 £ 20194

Programme purchases HEEE
— the largest supplier — AHEY 16% 10%
— five largest suppliers — ARHER 35% 33%

Sales HE

— the largest advertising end-customer — BERNEERKRERP 3% 2%
— five largest advertising end-customers — AREERKRER 10% 7%

None of the Directors, the chief executive of the Company, or their
close associates, or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the major suppliers or customers
mentioned above.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had conducted
certain continuing transactions with connected persons of the Group
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules to be reported in this
section.

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions subject only to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

[ LED Panel Advertisement Transactions

Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology Company Limited* (JBlE
#HEHERR D AR 2 7)) (“Phoenix Metropolis”), entered
into the following continuing connected transactions (the “PMM
CCT") in relation to the sale of advertising airtime on the LED
Panels operated by or licensed to Phoenix Metropolis and/
or its subsidiaries in the PRC with CMCC and its associates
(collectively the “CMCC Group”) for promoting the CMCC
Group .

* For identification purpose only
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

LED Panel Advertisement Transactions (Continued)

As announced on 28 May 2018, the Company considers that
the transactions between Phoenix Metropolis and the CMCC
Group constitute an important and integral part of the business
alliance between them and the operation of advertising airtime
and placing of advertisement on the outdoor LED panels
services in the PRC would strengthen the Group’s competitive
position in the market. The Company therefore applied for and
the Stock Exchange granted to the Company a waiver from
strict compliance with the requirement under Rule 14A.34 and
Rule 14A.571 of the Listing Rules to enter into a framework
agreement with the CMCC Group at the outset covering all
PMM CCT from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.

For details of the LED Panel Advertisement Transactions, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 May 2018.
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The Other Announcement Actual Usage
Contracting Party Transaction Date Term in 2020 Annual
#2020 F Cap
HaT8H 5 x5 AERH HIR EREANE FELR
RMB RMB
ARE ARE
CMCC Group PMM CCT 2018.05.28 2018.01.01 to 4,740,224 50,000,000

2020.12.31
mBHEE BEHmFERERS 2018554281 20181 A1HE

TV Channel Advertisement Agreement

Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited, through
Shenzhou Television Company Limited* (“Shenzhou’, acting
as its agent), entered into a framework agreement with CNHK
Media Limited (“CNHK Media’, acting for the benefit of the
CMCC Group) for the sale of advertising airtime at the Phoenix
Chinese Channel and the Phoenix InfoNews Channel for the
promotion of the CMCC Group for the period from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2020.

For details of the TV Channel Advertisement Agreement, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 2 December 2019.

* For identification purpose only
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued) BEBERS (&)
TV Channel Advertisement Agreement (Continued) . BRBEEESE (8)
Agreement &
The Other Announcement Actual Usage
Contracting Party Agreement Date Term in2020  Annual Cap
#2020 F
HiETAR & HhERAEEH HR ERBANE FELR
RMB RMB
AEE ARE
CNHK Media 2020 CNHK 2019.12.02 2020.01.01 to 17.014,301 25,000,000
Advertising Contract 2020.12.31
mEER 2020 FFEBEESAR 201912828 202051R1H%
202012 A31H
Trademark Licence Agreement . PRl

Beijing Huibo Advertisement and Media Company Limited*
(b ROEHE B S EE B R 2 F) ("Beijing Huibo”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company through a VIE structure and
Feng Xin Technology (Hai Kou) Group Limited* (Bl 7 &l £ (/&
0) £B AR A A, formerly known as Beijing Phoenix Li Li Ta
Information Technology Company Limited* (4t = Bl & 12 12 &
= B RMAR QT ("Feng Xin"), a wholly owned subsidiary
of Phoenix Financial Group Limited through a VIE structure,
entered into two short term supplemental trademark licence
agreements for the grant of certain exclusive licence and non-
exclusive licence to use certain trademarks in connection with
the business operations of Feng Xin's group in the PRC and
Hong Kong respectively for the period from 1 Janaury 2020 to
30 April 2020.

As announced on 29 April 2020, Beijing Huibo and Feng Xin
entered into a trademark licence agreement for the grant of
certain exclusive licence and non-exclusive licence to use
certain trademarks in connection with the business operations
of Feng Xin's Group in the PRC and Hong Kong respectively for
the period from 1 May 2020 to 30 April 2023.

For details of the Trademark Licence Agreement, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 29 April 2020.

* For identification purpose only
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

[Il.  Trademark Licence Agreement (Continued)

BEFREE (125 BRAR

FERERS (B)

. PEHFaHE ()

Agreement &
The Other Announcement Actual Usage
Contracting Party Agreement Date Term in2020  Annual Cap
#2020 5
HiET AR 1 BRERASEEH HIR ERBRANE FELR
RMB RMB
ARE ARE
Feng Xin 2" Supplemental At the material time,  2020.01.01 to 1,250,000 N/A
Trademark Licence transaction was 2020.03.31
Agreement fully exempted
under Listing Rules
14A.76(1)(c)
[BLERHR (IR AT Al hE) TEBREERS 202013182 TER
ME_FRAHE 2 kAl 20203 A31H
£14A.76(1)(c)
ERZERR
Feng Xin 3 Supplemental At the material time,  2020.04.01 to 416,000 N/A
Trademark Licence transaction was 2020.04.30
Agreement fully exempted
under Listing Rules
14A.76(1)(c)
[BLERHR (SRR ERRERRSE LT 2020064 A18% TEH
ME=RRHE MBIZE14AT6(C) 202054 A 308
ERZERR
Feng Xin 2020 Trademark Licence ~ 2020.04.29 2020.05.01 to 3,121,750 5,000,000
Agreement 2023.04.30
BERER 2020 B 1RRT Al e 20204 A29H 2020657418
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions subject to the reporting, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements as defined
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(\VA
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EEEREE

FERERS (B)

TR SRR ARG THIE BT
REMERFEECHT (R LTHA
F1IAE) mIFHEBER S °

New Media Platform Services Transactions V. FEEFERBERS
The Company expected PNM and its subsidiaries (the “PNM AN B 78 AR BB 1 A8 K EL Y A A
Group”) would, in the ordinary and usual course of business, (TEE#HEREE]) TAER—RE
enter into continuing connected transactions (the “New Media HBIEF - RN 2019F1 A1 HE
CCT") in relation to provision of website portal, value-added E2021F 12 B31 HIE=% - BEH
telecommunications, promotional and ancillary services by and SR B R B B [E B ARTR M AP
to PNM Group to and by CMCC Group for the three years from Mk - BAILE - HERETRISE]
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. The Company applied UEERERS ([HERFERER
for and the Stock Exchange granted to the Company a waiver 1) e RABIE MR TERBERE
from strict compliance with the requirement under Rule 14A.34 MEERMINE SR TR - BAERAF
and Rule 14A.51 of the Listing Rules to enter into a framework ABRIEEST ETRAE14A 3418 K&
agreement with the CMCC Group at the outset covering all of % 14A51 {5 8Y 38 TE M #E — B 46 3t £
New Media CCT. Independent shareholders’ approval for the B SER ER RN BE R
New Media CCT was also obtained at the extraordinary general FIREHERERS - BUREITE
meeting of the Company held on 17 December 2018. B 2018F 12 B 17 BEITH AR R
REFRIA S EHOE RS E RS
5o
For details of the New Media Platform Services Transactions, EEFEBTEaRBRINFE 5
please refer to the Company’s circular dated 23 November 28 AR " BHA2018F 11 A23 A
2018. AR ©
Agreement &
The Other Announcement Actual Usage
Contracting Party Transaction Date Term in 2020
R2020FE  Annual Cap
HsT 85 % BRERAEEH HR BEAHE EELR
RMB RMB
ARE AR
CMCC Group New Media CCT 2018.11.16 2019.01.01 to 49,948,925 200,000,000
2021.12.31
hHEEE MEBRERERS 201811 A16H  2019%1R1HZ

2021512 A31H
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued) BEEERS (&)

The Connected Relationships AR

As at 31 December 2020, CMHKG, a subsidiary of CMCC, is a
substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
19.69% of the issued share capital of the Company through
its wholly-owned subsidiary Extra Step Investments Limited.
Therefore, the CMCC Group are connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the PMM CCT as well as the New Media
CCT are continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

CNHK Media entered into contracts with a subsidiary of CMCC
in the PRC relating to and including the purchase from the
Group of advertising airtime at the Phoenix Chinese Channel
and the Phoenix InfoNews Channel for the benefit and on
behalf of the CMCC Group covering the period under the
2020 CNHK Advertising Contract. CNHK Media is therefore
considered a deemed connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.20(1) of the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the 2020 CNHK Advertising Contract are
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. HE Xin, the controlling shareholder of Phoenix Financial
Group Limited (an ultimate beneficial owner with 70.82%
equity interest), is the son-in-law of Mr. LIU Changle, who is the
Chairman and the then Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
both Mr. HE Xin and Feng Xin are therefore connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules and accordingly the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Trademark Licence
Agreement (aggregated with the transaction under two short
term supplemental trademark licence agreements) constitute
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that:

1. the transactions were entered into by the relevant member of
the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

2. the transactions were entered into either on normal commercial
terms or better, on an arm’s length basis or terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

3. the transactions were entered into in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “"Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board
of Directors containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 133 to 139 of this report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange. The Company confirmed that
during the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no continuing
transaction which could become a continuing connected transaction.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions (as
defined in HKAS 24 — Related Party Disclosures) entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 disclosed in Note
40 to the consolidated financial statements falls under the scope of
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which is subject to the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company hereby confirms that it has followed the set pricing
policies and guidelines when determining the price and terms of
the transactions during the reporting period for all above-mentioned
connected transactions during the reporting period.

F4 2020

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgREE

FERERS (B)

B FTERCEN LR ERER ST
TR -

1. ZEXSA/AEEETEHEKE AT
ERENR—REEBEFAFIL

2. BERSHEB—MEHERAEE
G - S AFRERBE BN A K

ABIE=HIREREBIE= M

BHIEHEST | R

3. HRERGERBEHMENRE &
RPGHBLFEELTEBRRNE
BRI R BN T RTAL

KRB 2 ZBARE (BB REERSE
RIIZ53000) (&5THR) K [ RS BA TS & R AT
REHRINERERE | B W2RE
EERTEIAE R 2 B AE 7405 [ 4
NEB ETRBIFT S ERER SNZE
Bk - AR EZ BERERSIEHRK
S RHMERAEBMEARAREFE133E
130 BB HEMERS - BR EmEA
F1AAIEREES B R HINETIELER
itz BREBER KT - XARE MER
FriR AL SRAD (AR RIS - R QB EEREE
2020%F 12 A 31 B It FE IR B M A& A
SERER HNFER S -

Br B REE SN - BEEAR S SRR
A0FTE B A BN E 2202012 A31 H
EFERIIEREALTR S (EEREHE
SEIERIE 245 — BEEALTER) B
R EMBRAE VAZFTREZBER S HIF
BRAER S MAET EMRAE 14AZE 2 A
o NESRBIIREREZIRTE ©

ARARRELHER - RREHRE - AEREEE
B K 851 HE L AR SRE IR METT
MR R S MR S B8 MK -

139



140

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EXEWREE

Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group

Foreign investment in the internet and mobile services industries is
currently prohibited or restricted in China. The internet business of the
Group in China is operated by PNM through contractual arrangements
with the legal shareholders of its VIE, among others, Beijing Tianying
Jiuzhou Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (1t R K ZNINEBE AR A
7]) (“Beijing Tianying"). The Group does not have equity interests in
Beijing Tianying or its subsidiaries. However, as a result of a series of
structured contracts (the “Structured Contracts”) entered into on 31
December 2009 by a subsidiary of PNM, Fenghuang On-line (Beijing)
Information Technology Company Limited* (“Fenghuang On-line”)
and all subsequent renewals in the same terms, the Group has
become the primary beneficiary of Beijing Tianying and its subsidiaries
and account for them as its indirect subsidiaries under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRS"). As at the date of this
report, Beijing Tianying is 51% owned by Mr. QIAO Haiyan and 49%
by Mr. GAO Ximin respectively, and the permitted business items
of Beijing Tianying includes: internet information services (excluding
information on news, publishing, education, medical health, medicine,
medical devices); internet advertising via www.ifeng.com; information
services of category Il value-added telecommunications services
(excluding fixed line telephone information services and internet
information services); production and publishing of animation,
television entertainment, feature; distribution of published books
and journals via internet (including mobile network), publishing of
internet game and mobile game; performance agency; retail of books,
newspaper, journals, electronic publications and audiovisual products
internet cultural activities. Whereas the general business items of
Beijing Tianying includes: technical development, technical consulting,
technical services, technical training; conference services; design,
production, agent, publishing of advertisement; organising cultural
exchange activities (excluding commerical performances); organising
exhibitions; enterprise planning; economy and trade consulting; lease
of computer and communications equipment.

The Group has consolidated the financial results of Beijing Tianying
and its subsidiaries in its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with HKFRS. In 2020, Beijing Tianying and its subsidiaries
accounted for 17.4% of the total revenues and 15.6% of the total
assets of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group
(Continued)

The Group has evaluated the relationship among PNM, Fenghuang
On-line and Beijing Tianying in accordance with HKFRS. Pursuant
to the Voting Right Entrustment agreement, PNM has obtained
power, as granted to the legal shareholders by the applicable PRC
law and under the articles of association of Beijing Tianying, to direct
all significant activities of Beijing Tianying, which include but are
not limited to budgeting, financing, and making other strategic and
operational decisions, and will significantly impact Beijing Tianying's
economic performance. Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical licensing
and service agreements and other agreements, PNM has the right
to receive benefits of Beijing Tianying in the form of technical service
fees, which could potentially be significant to Beijing Tianying's net
income. In addition, PNM has the right to receive all the residual
assets of Beijing Tianying through exercise of the Exclusive Option
agreement. As a result, the Group, through PNM and Fenghuang
On-line, is considered the primary beneficiary of Beijing Tianying and
therefore includes Beijing Tianying's assets, liabilities and operating
results in its consolidated financial statements. With the contractual
agreements with Beijing Tianying, the Group has the power to
direct the activities of Beijing Tianying, and can freely have assets
transferred out of Beijing Tianying’s without any restrictions.

Details of the Structured Contracts and the related information were
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 November 2009 (the
“Company’s Announcement”).

There were no material changes to the Structured Contracts and/or
the circumstances under which they were adopted, nor was there
any unwinding of them or of a failure to do the same due to the
restrictions that led to their adoption being removed.
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Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group
(Continued)

The reasons for using the Structured Contracts were disclosed in the
sub-section headed “Reasons For And Benefits Of The Acquisitions”
under the section entitled “Reasons For And Benefits Of The
Transaction” of the Company’s Announcement.

The major risks associated with them include, among others:

142

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating its businesses in China
do not comply with PRC governmental restrictions on foreign
investment in internet businesses, or if these regulations or
the interpretation of existing regulations change in the future,
the Group would be subject to severe penalties or be forced to
relinquish its interests in those operations.

The Group relies on contractual arrangements with Beijing
Tianying in China, and their legal shareholders, for its business
operations, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control or enabling us to derive economic benefits
as through ownership of controlling equity interest.

The legal shareholders of Beijing Tianying may have potential
conflicts of interest with the Group.

For details of the above-mentioned risks during the reporting
period, please refer to “ltem 3. Key Information — D. Risk
Factors — Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure” of the 2019
Annual Report of PNM disclosed on its website ir.ifeng.com.

On 15 March 2019, the National People’'s Congress promulgated
the Foreign Investment Law (7NEI&EJE) (“FIL”), which came
into effect on 1 January 2020 and the FIL replaced the old
foreign invested entities laws. The FIL, by means of legislation,
establishes the basic framework for the access, promotion,
protection and administration of foreign investment in view of
investment protection and fair competition.
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Contractual Arrangements of PNM Group
(Continued)

According to the FIL, foreign investment shall enjoy pre-entry national
treatment, except for those foreign invested entities that operate
in industries deemed to be either “restricted” or “prohibited” in
the “negative list” The FIL provides that foreign invested entities
operating in foreign “restricted” or “prohibited” industries will
require entry clearance and other approvals. It is unclear whether
the “negative list” will differ from the 2019 Negative List. In addition,
the FIL does not comment on the concept of “de facto control” or
contractual arrangements with variable interest entities, yet it has a
catch-all provision under definition of “foreign investment” to include
investments made by foreign investors in China through means
stipulated by laws or administrative regulations or other methods
prescribed by the State Council. Therefore, it still leaves leeway for
future laws, administrative regulations or provisions to provide for
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The Group cannot assure that PNM will be able to enforce the
Structured Contracts. Although PNM believe they are in compliance
with current PRC regulations, the Group cannot assure that the PRC
government would agree that these Structured Contracts comply
with PRC licensing, registration or other regulatory requirements,
with existing policies or with requirements or policies that may
be adopted in the future. PRC laws and regulations governing the
validity of these contractual arrangements are uncertain and the
relevant government authorities have broad discretion in interpreting
these laws and regulations. For example, it is uncertain whether the
government authorities will promulgate other implementation rules
of FIL and how the implementation rules, when they come into force,
may impact the viability of the current corporate structure in the
future.
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Competing Business

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors had any interests in a business which
competes or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group and which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Advances to an Entity

Details of the relevant advances to an entity from the Group are set
out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 59 to 77 of this report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has, during
the year and up to the date of this report, maintained a public float of
not less than 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and provided advice and comments
thereon.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Changle
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B

pwc

To the Shareholders of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 155 to 343, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
° Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from Shenzhou
Television Company Limited (“Shenzhou”)

° Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the Group
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Key Audit Matter

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from
Shenzhou

P N R IE 2 ZE R R R UK B 1

Refer to Notes 3(a)(ii), 4(a)(ii) and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements
BLHIRA YIS RERM 3@ - 4(a)i) & 21

At 31 December 2020, the Group had a receivable
balance from Shenzhou, the Group's advertising agent
in the PRC, of HK$511.7 million which was included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables. This
amount represented the net balance from advertising
revenue collected by Shenzhou, net of agency
commission and service fee earned by Shenzhou and
various expenses incurred and payments made by
Shenzhou on behalf of the Group.

202012 431 B » EXBEEWEMN (AR E%KE
RAEz BERE) 2 FKIA4E#R4511,700,0008 7T » Th
FTATERFUE -« #1e KA EKEIE - Ze BRI
Bz BEWNFERR - HRSNRRz RERe RRBEE
RN ER BEEEMFFCSBEERARINZHIE -

The receivable balance is unsecured and repayable
on demand. Pursuant to the service agreement
signed between Shenzhou and the Group dated 31
December 2019 and addendum dated 31 December
2020, Shenzhou agreed to deposit the advertising
revenue collected on behalf of the Group in
designated bank accounts in the PRC, which together
with any interest generated from these accounts
would be held in trust on behalf of the Group and
handled according to the Group’s instructions. No
additional interest would be charged by the Group on
the receivable balance from Shenzhou.

JEMRIR R R IR IR RRREREER - RiBEME &
EEAMF A A2019412 A31 A Z R & B H
720205F12 A31 Bz Wizt miRAEEEREX |
SEEBRHEEBAFARSTE 2 FERITERSA - ER
BRERPEEZEAMNSKEREK BEEREUGETEERR
B WRE BEEEZERERE- BEEEETSRER
M 2 IR AEERUEE(TREINFILS, ©
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMMET AR EBEETER

Our audit procedures in relation to the accuracy and
recoverability of the receivable from Shenzhou included:
B APTET FE U A I FRIE 2 JE R M e PR Bl 1 2 R A e B4

o Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
the judgement involved in management’s collectability
assessment;

FHiRE RGN EEMAEE R EEE AU E AT
Z AT K B I ST B K SR AR PR Y (B B [ B

o Understanding and evaluating management'’s
internal control and process to ensure the accuracy
and assess the recoverability of the outstanding
receivable with reference to Shenzhou's financial
position, credit quality, payment trends and
subsequent settlements;

B R B E 2 WEME S AR 7 AR E W RIE 2
R RFEETRENE - RN FIERR
EEEER NHRBZEREBREERIEZENR

° Agreeing opening balance of the receivable from
Shenzhou to the prior year audited accounts and
performing analytical procedures on the movements
in the balance with Shenzhou during the year to
identify if there were any unusual items;

A FEUGS N FRIE 2 BRIP4 AR FFEREIZRE < B
TELL B A MRS IETE - W F BN 2 A REHRD
BENETOMEF  HHEETERFIEE

° Agreeing the amounts of cash collected for
advertising revenue by Shenzhou recorded in the
Group’s accounting system to the collection reports
submitted by Shenzhou and sales contracts on a
sample basis;

% BB RGPSz @NBERESRAZES
&R BN R AT 2 W RS R SHE & RITE L ¥ AR
ML IR
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Key Audit Matter

AEETER

Management is of the opinion that the balance is fully
recoverable based on the expected credit loss model
and no provision is required at the year end.
ERERR  REBHEEEEREREN  BRERSIEH
Wem - SWBARFERIEL B

Due to the arrangements with Shenzhou described
above, there is a risk that the receivable balance at
31 December 2020 may not be accurate, and the
outstanding amount accounted for approximately
5.5% of the total assets of the Group. The nature
and size of this balance together with the significant
judgements exercised by management in their
collectability assessment warrant specific audit
attention.

B Lt B 2 IR 2 HE - 72020512 A31 R ZfE
WHIBAESR AR SR B - MABERESFEE E5ER
BERS5% AR ULASRZ B RREEREIEEERK
&7 A EI M FHE R R 2 ERHIET - ZAINCARE 2 At

N =
AR, ©
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ETF N IEERRENEE

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of commission and service fee paid to
Shenzhou;

BREE X T2 Ae KRS BT E 2 EMERL

Agreeing, on a sample basis, the expenses and
payments made by Shenzhou on behalf of the
Group to the instructions given by the Group or
other relevant supporting information;

DA g iRk BRI S 2 R kAR
EEEEL 2 SRS A MR S F B FHEL B LA AE
LIEHE

Comparing the year end receivable balance
recorded in the Group's accounting system to
the external confirmation obtained by us from
Shenzhou and testing the reconciling items; and
1% BEREGE RFH ik 2 FEUGRIA 45 #R B3 (P [m 42
NS 2 HNERHERHETTLLE - WAISHRRIER &

Assessing the reasonableness of the judgement
and estimates used by management to determine
the expected credit loss by considering the
historical payment trends and the appropriateness
of forward-looking factors included in the expected
credit loss model.

REEBENTBZNAREEBBERAEKAOAEG
RERLEEE  HEEEERAREERREERBRNA
R hE SR -

We found management’s assessment on the
recoverability and accuracy of the receivable from
Shenzhou was supportable by the available evidence.
FAPIE IR E IR S UK 2 AT YR B 1 B HE R 2 AT A AT A
FIBIR A BIR T A FF o
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Key Audit Matter

BHEETER

Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the
Group

EEEEWER Z AT E

Refer to Notes 3(a)(ii), 4(a)(ii) and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements
B2 A M HRERMEE 3@ i) ~ 4()(i) & 20

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's accounts
receivable balance amounted to HK$1,207.8 million
comprising gross accounts receivable of HK$1,489.3
million net of provision for impairment of HK$281.5
million. Management has performed an assessment
on the recoverability of the accounts receivable
balance as at 31 December 2020 based on the
expected credit loss model. In performing the
assessment, management also considered a number
of factors including but not limited to the debtors’
current and expected financial positions, business
environment and industry performance, current and
forward looking economic factors, collection history,
past experience and subsequent settlements.
M20205F12A31H BEBEEREREH R
1,207,800,000;8 7T - HAfE W BR TR 4850 1,489,300,000 8 7T
BRRE B 281,500,000 8 TTAEAK - BIEEREBEEHRE
BEREXHEEZ 2020512 A31 A ZERERR&#H 2
A eI o FEEITRHER  BEEBENMERTZEEERZ &
FENRNEBAZRE RBHRM BN - LERFERT
¥RE BRRAIEMEEERE  WEGE - BESRK
HBHEERIE BN

Management is of the opinion that the provision for
impairment of accounts receivable based on the
expected credit loss model was adequate but not
excessive at 31 December 2020.
EIRERE 2020912 A 31 AREEREEEEEAE
H2 RBERFUREREHMIERS

B ZHERE

B RE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMOMET AR EBEETER

Our audit procedures in relation to management'’s
assessment on the recoverability of the accounts
receivable included:
BRSSP AR AT I B 1 3T 2 B R IE P B4

Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and judgement involved in management’s collectability
assessment;

FRE BT NHEE T2 E KB IR fE S r] U ol 14 AT
ZEHE TS R ) F ST B R SR AR PR Y B B [ B

Understanding, evaluating and testing, on a sample
basis, management'’s credit control procedures and
their basis and methodology of estimation of the
amount of impairment provision of the expected
credit losses required for the accounts receivable
balance;

B HERBEAREEBCGEERREF REERE
USRS AT R IEREE B IRRER G E &
ERFE

Testing post-year end settlements of accounts
receivable on a sample basis;
MBS B YRR 2 FREEEEIER

Obtaining confirmations for a sample of the
balances as at 31 December 2020 directly from the
debtors and testing the reconciling items. Where
a response to the request was not received, we
agreed the relevant receivable balances to the
underlying sale contracts or supporting information
or post year end cash receipts;
MEEBERERALBSEE 2020612 A 31 B 2 &k
ZWER - WAIRHHERIER - EEMERRKEIREZIF
S BT ARRE EMRIB A A BB RIS E & RS R &
B F &I @ WK L B AR A2 5 IEHE

Testing the accuracy of aging profile of the accounts
receivable at the year end, on a sample basis,
against sales invoices and related sales contracts or
billing records;

IRIRIHE H R MR E & R IR S MRS K
RN G4 2 BRER I 2 BT 1
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Key Audit Matter

AEETER

This is considered as a key matter to our audit
because of the judgements involved in management’s
assessment and the financial significance of the
receivable balance to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

R E R BT TS &2 & 1R S H) B DA K B UK R I8 4 64
¥ BEEREUBHRRIUBEEMN  AZEHERR
RHEMEFR 2 EREE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ETF N IEERRENEE

Discussing with management to assess the
recoverability of significant and aged accounts
receivable balances by corroborating management'’s
explanations with relevant supporting documentation
and market information, including external payment
schedules from the customers, supportable credit
risk information, and financial information of the
customers; and

HIEIR T AR E R R RERER B BR &SR
AgEY - FRAAEEX X RTSES (B
PRZINBNFEER  AREZEERBREMEEFZ
HISER) REREEBZHA » &

Assessing the estimates used by management to
determine the expected credit loss by considering
the subsequent settlement against historical
payment trends and assessing the reasonableness
of forward-looking factors included in the expected
credit loss model.

L R B RUR B ANRBE - FHAEEERNE
EHEBEEBENGE WA RREEEERXRA
AR ZN SR -

We found the judgement and assumptions used by the

management in determining the provision for accounts
receivable to be supportable based on available evidence.
ERAISEFE - BMBREEEEE T RUARRBERTEZ
FIE R B BREBRER
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. VWe have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

4 2020
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. \We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

4 2020
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Nga Kwan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

INCOME STATEMENT
e lER

HZE 2020912 A31 HILFE
(BR3EHFRIEEER - @ BB TTHIE)

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
Note $°000 $'000
B =E Frx Tt
Revenue @N 5 3,029,046 3,688,231
Operating expenses KREEH (2,740,646) (3,262,829)
Selling, general and administrative  $5& - —RRITHEH
expenses (790,551) (1,153,314)
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith (B518) WEFHE
Fair value loss on investment WEYE LT EEE
properties 14 (140,493) (6,847)
Other operating (losses)/gains, net Hihgees (B18) WS F%E 6 (964,478) 1,606,013
Interest income FEWA 43,193 37002
Interest expense FIERX (51,881) (64,774)
Share of profits less losses of BiEEELERFIREE
joint ventures 16 1,297 (2,662)
Share of profits less losses of BLEE D RDEFIRE R
associates 17 (6,338) (4,124)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATER A (BR) 5R 7 (1,620,851) 836,696
Income tax credit/(expense) Fr8siER (EA) 9 124,358 (252,468)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (FE) &wF (1,496,493) 584,228
(Loss)/profit attributable to: ToISEEMN (F8) %57
Owners of the Company PANCIEZ Z DN (1,037,043) 122,665
Non-controlling interests IR (459,450) 461,563
(1,496,493) 584,228
(Loss)/earnings per share for BMEARDTEE AEG
(loss)/profit attributable to (B18) BANER’R
the owners of the Company (B8]) BA
for the year
Basic (loss)/earnings per share, SREAR (B1E) &F
Hong Kong cents 7Bl 10 (20.77) 2.46
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share, SEsE (BE) &F
Hong Kong cents AL 10 (20.77) 2.46

The notes on pages 163 to 343 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statement.

HNFE 163 HEF 343 H M AZELRE
TS IRER 2 MR ERD o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12 A31 HILFE
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BR3EFFRIEEER - @ BB TTHIE)
2020 2019
2020 2019 F
$'000 $'000
ST T
(Loss)/profit for the year EE (BE) %A (1,496,493) 584,228
Other comprehensive Hih2mukzs, (BX) :
income/(expense):
Items that have been/may be BAREZ 74 HiE®
reclassified to profit or loss B EEEn 2 HA
Currency translation differences EimE s 136,077 (37519)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ EERME (X)) WESHE
income for the year (1,360,416) 546,709
Attributable to: T 5l & EpEA,
Owners of the Company ZN/NGIEZ 2SN (949,693) 97675
Non-controlling interests eI R (410,723) 449,034
(1,360,416) 546,709

The notes on pages 163 to 343 are an integral part of these HNE13EEEMIBE Wit AZEHA
consolidated financial statement. IS haR 2 4R ERMD

156



Annual Report 2020 3R 2020

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET //‘

REEERER

As at 31 December 2020 202012 A31H
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (CERSHEIEL RPN I[=)
2020 2019
2020 2019 F
Note $000 $'000
PR Fr Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Purchased programme and film rights, B AEIE &
net BN FHE 12 16,372 19,895
Right-of-use assets FREEE 35 829,407 978,220
Property, plant and equipment, net Y% - B R EFE 13 813,018 957736
Investment properties B 14 1,417,526 1,490,452
Intangible assets BIEE 15 44,788 239,637
Investments in joint ventures RELLENRE 16 37,356 38,407
Investments in associates R E A RILE 17 82,409 45,827
Other long-term assets HivREEE 21 54,206 61,210
Deferred income tax assets BEFBREE 33 116,327 84,422
3,411,409 3,915,806
Current assets REEE
Accounts receivable, net FEUBR R F 5 20 1,207,772 1,083,537
Prepayments, deposits and TERFE - Bk
other receivables E A e Y R TE 21 888,535 735,953
Inventories 7E8 22 6,003 9,353
Amounts due from related companies  FEURERAE R 7 FIE 23 18,542 46,998
Self-produced programmes BRETE 8,951 8,456
Purchased programme and film rights, B A& B kB e F58
net 12 358 281
Financial assets at fair value through AT EEBEBERLEN
profit or loss WG EE 24 1,532,788 3,827197
Prepaid tax TERBIIE 5,181 5,255
Pledged bank deposits BEHEBRITIFR 34 387,640 391,465
Bank deposits RITIER 25 53,155 310,693
Restricted cash R GRS 26 37,642 92,703
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EFMEEE 27 1,796,392 1,530,564
5,942,959 8,042,455
Total assets wEE 9,354,368 11,958,261

The notes on pages 163 to 343 are an integral part of these HFNE163EEFIMIH 2T ABLESHEA
consolidated financial statement. BT haR 2 4R ERD o
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEERER

As at 31 December 2020

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BEFREE (125 BRAR

2020412 A31 A
(BR3EFFRIEEER - @ BB TTHIE)

2020 2019
2020 £ 20194
Note $'000 $'000
BiaE Fr T
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners AARER AELER
of the Company
Share capital &N 29 499,347 499,347
Reserves 15 3,907,619 4,862,355
4,406,966 5,361,702
Non-controlling interests IEE IR R 18(e) 1,471,258 2,269,961
Total equity HRERS 5,878,224 7,631,663
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE !
Secured bank borrowings BEPRITEE 32(a) 1,787 29,735
Lease liabilities HEARE 35 512,439 608,821
Financial liabilities at fair value EAFEEBESLEN
through profit or loss Zup L 3=N 24 5,225 2,501
Other long-term liabilities HERHEBE 4,863 4,615
Loans from non-controlling Fi B R IR AR
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 32(b) 45,787 154,625
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMBHAs 33 149,700 399,376
719,801 1,199,673
Current liabilities b=
Accounts payable, other payables FERTERR - HAFERIEIR
and accruals K FEEHRIE 31 1,534,418 1,898,802
Secured bank borrowings ABEBRITEE 32(a) 367,575 402,217
Lease liabilities HEAE 35 202,495 214,791
Deferred income TEIEPIA 36 209,899 265,613
Loans from non-controlling P~ R IR
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 32(b) 306,167 229,737
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHRAE 132,194 92,257
Financial liabilities at fair value RATEEBERCERN
through profit or loss Mg aE 24 3,595 23,508
2,756,343 3,126,925
Total liabilities weE 3,476,144 4,326,598
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 9,354,368 11,958,261

The notes on pages 163 to 343 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statement.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 155 to 343 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2021 and were

signed on its behalf.

LIU Changle

SRS

Director

EF
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MR 2 ARED D ©

B 165 B £ 55 343 B AY4R

BRLESESIN

2021 F3R19BEEECBIB  WHILT

EERREFTERE

CHUI Keung
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERZHR

HZE 2020912 A31 HILFE
(BR3EFSRIZIRA « ©FUBTIIE)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALAERARL

Employee
share-
based Non-
Share Share  Statutory Capital  Exchange payment Retained  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings interests equity
EEUKRS
b
kx  RGEE  tERE  AARE  EXRE  FERE  RERA  HERES s
Note §000 §000 §000 §000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $/000
if3 i r r r i i r i i
(Note)
(Wit)
Balance at 1 January 2020 R2020E1 A1 ANER 499,347 150,634 168,797 1,402,994 (1772881) 62,264 3,255,547 2,269,961 7631,663
Loss for the year FEFE - - - - - - (1037043)  (459,450)  (1,496,493)
Other comprehensiveincome  Eft2E Rz
Currency translation differences ~ EMEEEE - - - - 87350 - - 48727 136,077
Total comprehensive income ~ EE2ENHLE
for the year - - - - 81350 - (1,037043) (410,723)  (1,360,416)
Transactions with owners HEEAZRS
Share option scheme BRIEE
- value of employee services -BIRBER - - - - - - - 11,023 11,023
- lapse of share options - BRELH - 2,869 - - - (2,869) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling ~ EfFEERERNRE
interests - - - - - - - (344,152) (344,152)
Allocation to statutory reserve PREETRE - - 4,035 - - - 4,035) - -
Disposals of interests in a subsidiary HE—FHBA AR - - - - - - - (55,646) (55,646)
Acquisition of additional equity ~ WEEHBA Az BRAES
interests in subsidiaries - - - (520) - - - (3,728) (4,248)
Redemption of shares BRI - - - (4523) - - - 4523 -
Total transactions with owners ~ SEEBAETNRZLE - 2,869 4,035 (5,043) - (2,869) (4035)  (387980)  (393,023)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R2020E12431 AliER 499,347 153,503 172,832 1,397951 (90,531) 59,395 2,214,469 1,471,258 5,878,224
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BEFREE (125 BRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERBESER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2020F12 A31 HILFE
(BR3EFERIZIAA - ©FUBTIIE)

Attributable to owners of the Company

AR NER
Employee
share-
based Non-
Share Share Statutory Capital Exchange payment Retained  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings interests equity
EENRH
A ROEE  AERE  AXRE  ERRE REER  HARER R
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $/000 $000 $000 $000
liFs e e e e i S v T T
(Note)
(Bzt)
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018E12 A 31 AL 499,347 150,063 160,199 1,535,271 (152,891) 63,116 3223824 2,251223 736,152
Change in accounting policy RS - - - - - - (32,409 (38,035) (70,444)
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019E1 B 1AMER 499,347 150,063 160,199 1,535,271 (152,891) 63116 3,191,415 2,219,188 7,665,708
Profit for the year FERR - - - - - - 122,665 461,663 584,228
Other comprehensive income ~ Eft2EHE
Currency translation differences ~ E%HEZE - - - - (24,990) = - (12529) (37519)
Total comprehensive income ~ FE2ENRAE
for the year - = = = (24,990) - 122,665 449,034 546,709
Transactions with owners REBAZRS
Share option scheme Eigsral
- value of employee services -BIRBER - - - - - - - 22,853 22,853
~ lapse of share options - BRERR - 571 - - - (571) = = =
Dividends related to 2018 H0IFEENRE - - - - - - (49,935) - (49,935)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B3 RERARE
interests - - - - - - = 409,380) 409,380)
Allocation to statutory reserve PREEERE - - 8,598 - - - 8,598) - -
Acquisition of interest in subsidiaries AEENIBA Al - - - (131,922) - - - (13807)  (145729)
Acquisition of additional equity  WE-FMBARZENRAES
interests in a subsidlary - - - - - - - (1,690) (1,690)
Deemed disposal of partialinterest - REEMEE T EMA(EHE
in a subsidiary arising from —EREAR PR
exercise of share options 3 = = = (355) = (281) = 3,763 3121
Total transactions with owners ~ REEAETHRZEH - 571 8,598 (132,277) - (852) (58533)  (398261)  (580,754)
Balance at 31 Decemhber 2019 R2019512 A 31 AfER 499,347 150,634 168,797 1,402,99% (177881) 62,264 3,255,547 2,269,961 7631,663
Note: The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the PRC statutory reserve Mt : REERDEE HEHERETEEERHERD

fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made out of profit
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the PRC
subsidiaries. The amount should not be less than 10% of the profit
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the
aggregate amount exceeds 50% of the registered capital of the PRC
subsidiaries. The statutory reserve fund can be used to make up prior
years' losses of the PRC subsidiaries.

The notes on pages 163 to 343 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

HZE20205 12831 ALLEE
(CERSHEIEL RPN I[=)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
2020 £ 20194
Note $'000 $'000
PiEE Fr T
Cash flows from operating activities &&E£KTENESRE
Cash used in operations BEEBFTANER S 37(a) (728,829) (396,980)
Interest received B2 HFIE 43,193 27843
Interest paid ERFE (51,881) (27.193)
Hong Kong taxation refund BiREHARIE 74 6,729
Overseas taxation paid BHEINRIA (3.879) (18,686)
Net cash used in operating activities KRR RE T ARIR £ 558 (741,322) (408,287)
Cash flows from investing activities REZFEHHNBELSHRE
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ~ FRFIEREHL, (3&0) 26 55,061 (92,477)
Decrease in pledged bank deposit BIERARITETORLD 34 3,825 343,280
Decrease in bank deposits RITFEFORD 25 257538 108,612
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE 15 (23,439) (86,475)
Purchase of property, plant AV - BE KE&ME
and equipment 13 (31,509) (104,462)
Purchase of programme [ INCIEPSER T
and film rights 12 (12,712) (21,697)
Purchase of investment property AR E Y 14 - (585)
Net cash inflows from disposal HE—ZRHMBARKIRE
of a subsidiary MAFERE 43(b) 308,948 =
Net cash inflow from liquidation B NaEENERS
of associates MAFRE 872 =
Net cash inflow from acquisition W EEKT B A R AR S
of subsidiaries MAFEE 42 413 224,871
Capital contribution to various mARKRE HE
investments (71,646) (7.460)
Capital return from associates Bp N R B A RE 17 - 2,472
Proceeds from disposal of B EREMEMEHRIA 2,71 =
investment property
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BE MRE
plant and equipment Fif8 08 9,219 7612
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZRAFES BIERCRN
assets at fair value through B & EFS A
profit or loss 1,200,529 1,562,884
Investment income from financial BRAVEBEBERGCERN
assets at fair value through IS EEMRERA
profit or loss - 2,098
Investment income from pledged BEFIRITHERAORE WA
bank deposits 12,438 11,954
Purchase of financial assets at BERATEEBERLEN
fair value through profit or loss WG EE (166,801) (378,018)
Deposit for disposal of financial HER AT AEBBERCERN
assets at fair value through HIEEENES
profit or loss - 401,395
Net cash generated from WEREBIRE 55
investing activities 1,545,447 1,974,004
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BEFREE (125 BRAR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HZE2020F12 A31 HILFE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIER AR - A TTIIE)

2020 2019
2020 2019 F
Note $000 $'000
PiisE Fr Tt
Cash flows from financing activities BEFZHNRESHE
Dividends paid to owners of the ENTARREE ANRE
Company 11 - (49,935)
Proceeds from exercise of share 1T1E— KB A ) AR AE
options of a subsidiary FrfS5R38 - 3,127
Drawdown of secured bank RAEEARITEE
borrowings 37(b) - 140,886
Repayment of secured bank EERAERRITEER
borrowings 37(b) (62,497) (538,276)
Principal elements of lease payments  fHE BRI A S 215 37(b) (172,011) (246,321)
Loans from non-controlling M8 A Rl FEFERRAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries RIEER 37(b) 10,911 15,405
Acquisition of additional equity HEEK B AR HE
interests in subsidiaries/associates N RIIRHE (2,190) (199,838)
Repayment to non-controlling B EPNGIESE =25
shareholders of subsidiary A& R E R 37(b) (57,760) =
Dividends paid to non-controlling B SRR E R e AR B
interests (344,152) (409,380)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHFTAIREF5E (627,699) (1,284,332)
Net increase in cash and Re RIS FMETEB BINFE
cash equivalents 176,426 281,385
Cash and cash equivalents at FReMREFEEE
beginning of year 1,530,564 1,246,180
Net exchange gain on cash and ReRRSEEHEER
cash equivalents Was 558 89,402 2,999
Cash and cash equivalents at FHRIe MRS FBEIER
end of year 27 1,796,392 1,530,564

HNFE163HEF 343 H M AZELRE
TS RER 2 MR ER D o

The notes on pages 163 to 343 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS //‘

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

General information

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) engage principally in
satellite television broadcasting and provision of internet media
services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of The People’s Republic of China (“PRC").
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 March
2021.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for the revaluation of investment
properties and financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BEFREE (125 BRAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e TR M EE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

(i)

Effect of adopting new standards and
amendments to standards effective in 2020

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of material

(Amendments)

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 Interest rate
and HKFRS 9 benchmark reform
(Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)  Definition of a business

Conceptual Framework  Revised Conceptual
for Financial Framework for
Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting

The adoption of the amendments and interpretations
of HKFRS stated above did not have any significant
impact to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the current and prior periods.

(BRIFAFRIRIRR - SREABTTIIE)

2

ERETHRME (&)

(b)

ERIEC WS T

BEG AR RAETH
R R BERT BB M S &
Al DTRASEASAHHEE
IRERY

(i) $HHAN2020 F £ M2 5
AR ERERT R &

BESHEN BAZEE
Z1RRES
SHERI